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vision
To be South Africa’s leading 
listed shopping centre  
fund by creating long-
term, sustainable income 
and capital growth for 
our unitholders.

mission
To create the most 
desirable shopping 
destinations in South Africa 
which constantly deliver 
exceptional and memorable 
shopping experiences to 
our customers.

AWARDS AND ACCOLADES 

Sunday Times – Business Times “Top 100 companies” 2006/2007/2008/2009/2010
FM Listed Property Investment Award “Top listed fund in the IPD databank over three years” 2007/2008 
FM Listed Property Investment Award “Market Sector – Retail” 2006/2007/2008
Top Companies incorporating the public sector (Top 300) 2006/2007

Canal Walk 

South African Council of Shopping Centres “Gold Footprint Award”: The Canal Walk Way 
South African Council of Shopping Centres “Silver Footprint Award”: Cents-able Shopping, Jungle Book 
South African Council of Shopping Centres “Bronze Footprint Award”: Mommy and Me, Celebrate the Game

The Glen 

South African Council of Shopping Centres “Bronze Footprint Award”: The Glen Relaunch 

Hyde Park

South African Council of Shopping Centres “Bronze Footprint Award”: Hyde Park Shopping 40th Birthday & Festive 
Season Campaign, Sex and the City 2 Premier 

The Mall

South African Council of Shopping Centres “Silver Footprint Award”: Be You – Brand Campaign
South African Council of Shopping Centres “Bronze Footprint Award”: Glamour Woman of the Year
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2010 2009

Revenue (R000)     1 119 048       923 655 

Net property income (R000)      747 116       664 275 

Net operating income (R000)      589 518       545 606 

Net debt at year-end (R000)*     1 422 253     1 372 438 

Debt-to-open market value ratio (%)         12,6         13,0 

Total combined units in issue at year-end   166 113 169    166 113 169 

Distribution per combined units (cents)        357,0         328,0 

Increase in distribution per combined unit (%)          8,8          6,5 

Net asset value per combined unit (R)        47,26         44,29 

Net asset value per combined unit excluding deferred taxation (R)        57,01         53,16 

Closing combined unit price (R)        57,00         45,85 

Net asset value – premium to closing unit price (excluding deferred 
taxation) (%)          0,0         15,9 

Vacancy factor (% of lettable area)          3,9          4,5 

Gross collections (rental income and recoveries) (R000)      984 910       790 568 

Management fees (asset management and property management) (R000)        52 646 

Management fees as a % of gross collections                     6,7 

* Long-term loans less cash and cash equivalents

Total distribution 357 cents per combined unit up 8,8%

Total return 32,1% 

Total assets R11,5 billion up 6%

Gearing 12,6%

NAV excluding deferred taxation R57,01 per combined unit up 7%

Market capitalisation R9,5 billion up 24%

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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canal walk

Canal Walk is one of South Africa’s premier  
super-regional shopping centres situated in  
Century City, Cape Town.

www.canalwalk.co.za

Retail 
GLA

Number 
of stores

Office 
GLA

Number of 
parking bays

Footcount
2010 Ownership

140 569 m2 401 9 825 m2 8 008 20 735 099 80%

Anchor tenants Checkers, Edgars, Game, Nu Metro, Pick n Pay, Stuttafords, Woolworths  
Sub-anchors Bride & Co and EuroSuit, Cape Union Mart Adventure Centre, Dis-Chem, Footgear, Foschini, Golfer’s Club,  
Hi-Fi Corporation, @homelivingspace, House & Home, Incredible Connection, Mr Price Home, Sports Direct, Toys R Us, Truworths,
Urban Living@Furniture City
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STRATEGIC OBjECTIVES

Hyprop is committed to delivering superior returns to its unitholders through proactive 
asset management and capital and income growth. Intent on driving long-term growth in 
the portfolio, Hyprop will continue to target new investment opportunities while remaining 
a retail-focused fund.

NATURE OF BUSINESS

Hyprop, a  jSE-listed property loan stock company based in johannesburg, provides investors with access to high quality retail 
property investment. The company owns prime regional and super-regional shopping centres across South Africa which account 
for 94% of its total investment property. Hyprop distributes all its income on a semi-annual basis. At year-end the company had 
a market capitalisation of R9,5 billion. 

An experienced in-house team pro-actively manages all of Hyprop’s property assets. The total staff complement is 148.

 Hyprop’s R11,2 billion portfolio currently includes: 
•   Six shopping centres across three provinces; 
•  Retail GLA of 378 482m² and office GLA of 22 221m²; and
•   A 34,7% interest in Sycom, a listed property fund comprising office and retail properties.

The proposed Attfund Retail acquisition will add 11 properties to Hyprop’s portfolio including Clearwater Mall, Woodlands 
Boulevard, Atterbury Value Mart and Centurion Mall (25% undivided share) in Gauteng and CapeGate Retail Precinct, Somerset 
Value Mart, Willow Bridge Lifestyle Centre and a 20% indirect share in Garden Route Mall in the Western Cape.  

The integrated report covers the company’s operations for the year under review. Reporting on corporate responsibility issues is 
included in this report insofar as policy and governance is concerned in line with the King III Report and the Companies Act. 
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the glen

The Glen is the preferred shopping destination of  
choice for the affluent suburbs of the South  
of johannesburg.

THE GLEN
S H O P P I N G  C E N T R E www.theglenshopping.co.za

Anchor tenants Edgars, Game, Nu Metro, Pick n Pay, Woolworths  
Sub-anchors Dis-Chem, Hi-Fi Corporation, @Home Living, Incredible Connection, Mr Price Home, Wetherleys

Retail  
GLA

Number 
of stores

Number of 
parking bays

Footcount
2010 Ownership

74 583 m2 194 3 699 14 128 165 75,15%
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

InTRoduCTIon
Hyprop declared a total distribution for the year of 357 cents per 

combined unit, an increase of 8,8% on the previous year in line 

with expectations. Total return for the year was 32,1%, comprising 

income return of 7,8% and capital return of 24,3%. These results 

were achieved against a backdrop of weak consumer confidence, 

clearly highlighting the core strength of Hyprop’s assets even in an 

economic downturn.

The FIFA World Cup 2010 served as a show-piece for South Africa 

and the considerable talents and resilience of all our citizens in the 

face of the global financial crisis. The benefits of hosting the event 

both in terms of footfall and turnover at Hyprop’s centres were 

noticeably felt across the bulk of the portfolio.

As might be expected in the prevailing economic climate, arrear 

rentals did increase. However, Hyprop managed to reduce 

vacancies to 3,9% or 1,6% excluding Stoneridge. During the year 

there was strong organic growth in the portfolio resulting from the 

investment in extensions at The Glen and Canal Walk.

Increases in assessment rates and electricity costs remain a  

cause for concern, as does the underperformance of the 

investment in Sycom.

The Investment Property Databank (IPD) 2010 SA Property  

Index averaged 14,8% in total returns for listed funds in the IPD  

SA Benchmark. Since December 2000 Hyprop has regularly 

outperformed the benchmark return by 4,4% a year.

Following the acquisition of the Attfund Retail portfolio, Hyprop is 

set to become an even more prominent player in the property 

sector uniquely offering investors exposure to some of the country’s 

most recognisable retail assets.

MARkeT oveRvIeW
In developed countries, high levels of personal debt and an 

extensive accumulation of government debt remain recurring 

themes. In addition, the availability of credit remains constrained. 

However, following a tumultuous two years in global financial 

markets, a revival of growth is likely to see continued foreign capital 

inflows to South Africa. This will further support domestic demand.

In South Africa low interest rates, easing debt levels and improved 

confidence should result in growth reaching 3,5% in 2011. 

Although inflation is forecast to drift higher, it is expected to remain 

within the top end of the target range of 6%, with interest rates only 

expected to revert to an upward cycle towards the end of 2011.

The private sector is likely to increase investment in production 

capacity as a consequence of growing demand, supported by the 

added incentive of low interest rates. This may be tempered by 

Rand strength, infrastructural constraints and the economic outlook 

for South Africa’s major trading partners, especially in the 

manufacturing and mining sectors.

Locally the labour market is set to remain relatively weak with a 

poor housing sector pressuring household wealth and dampening 

the chances of a broad-based recovery in consumer spending in 

the short term.

MAnAGeMenT
Hyprop’s assets became independently managed in August 2010 

with the termination of the consultancy agreement with Redefine  

(at no cost to the company). The strengthened in-house management 

team continued to receive exposure to international retail trends 

and the graduate training programme is progressing well. 

Fostering the depth and diversity of Hyprop’s internal skills set 

remains a key strategic goal for the company. 

Michael Aitken
Chairman 
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Bee
Hyprop remains committed to enhancing B-BBEE with a particular 

strategic focus on ensuring any equity transaction undertaken at 

group level is truly broad-based. During the year macro-economic 

conditions were not conducive to establishing a meaningful 

transaction that eradicated funding constraints or more 

importantly met our strict criteria for being beneficial on a 

broad-based basis. The board continues to consider proposals 

to progress this imperative. 

SuSTAInABIlITY 
As a responsible corporate citizen Hyprop is committed to 

economic, social and environmental sustainability and fully 

embraces the principles of triple bottom line reporting. The board 

acknowledges that this requires an integrated and inter-related 

approach and each aspect of operations within the group strictly 

adheres to responsible social and environmental practices. This is 

achieved through formal risk assessments, outlook determinations 

and audits.

A more detailed overview of Hyprop’s policies, principles and 

progress in this regard is set out in the Sustainability Report 

contained in this annual report. 

ATTFund ReTAIl
Hyprop has concluded a formal agreement with Attfund Retail in 

relation to a proposed offer to acquire 100% of the shares in 

Attfund Retail, for the purpose of acquiring Attfund Retail’s 

portfolio of property assets and listed property securities.

In terms of the offer, Hyprop will acquire the issued share capital 

of Attfund Retail for an aggregate effective consideration of 

R8,986 billion less the value of Attfund Retail’s debt as at the 

effective date of the offer. The offer consideration will be settled 

by a combination of Hyprop combined units and cash.

The transaction will provide Hyprop with a distinct opportunity to 

acquire a large, well-managed, retail-focused portfolio that 

complements Hyprop’s existing portfolio on a yield-enhancing 

basis. It will increase Hyprop’s portfolio to 22 properties with a 

gross value of approximately R17,9 billion, almost doubling its 

size while enabling it to retain its retail focus.

The implementation of the offer will further strengthen Hyprop’s 

management team through the addition of Attfund Retail’s centre 

management and corporate management teams. Further, Hyprop 

will benefit from the expertise and experience of Louis Norval and 

Louis van der Watt who will become non-executive members of 

the Hyprop board once the offer is implemented.

Hyprop unitholders approved the proposed acquisition of 

Attfund Retail at a unitholder meeting on 13 May 2011. 

STRATeGY
Maintaining Hyprop’s position as the premier, retail-focused 

property fund listed on the jSE is core to Hyprop’s strategy.

Hyprop aims to achieve continued growth in distributions through 

its integrated management processes. These include boosting 

rental levels by ensuring a dynamic tenant mix and ongoing 

investment in existing centres, while closely monitoring arrears 

and operating cost performance. 

Through the planned extension to The Mall, as with the expansion 

of its other centres, Hyprop will actively continue to accommodate 

new retail trends and the changing lifestyles of patrons to retain 

its loyal customer base. 

With the proposed Attfund Retail acquisition, Hyprop is set to 

undergo an important structural change while still maintaining a 

consistent level of quality in the group’s asset base. In the short 

term the focus will be on bedding down the proposed acquisitions, 

including the integration of the new properties and management. 

In the medium to long term Hyprop will look to unlock growth 

opportunities that the younger Attfund portfolio has to offer. 

dIReCToRATe 
Wolf Cesman resigned from the board with effect from 31 May 2010 

and Khosi Sibisi resigned effective 1 December 2010. Wolf was 

instrumental in implementing a number of Hyprop’s growth 

strategies, in particular the acquisition of Canal Walk, as well as 

being actively involved in the management of the portfolio. The 

board thanks both Wolf and Khosi for their contribution to 

Hyprop’s success.

Effective 3 December 2010, Mike Lewin and David Rice were 

appointed as non-executive directors, while Lindie Engelbrecht 

was appointed as an independent non-executive director with 

effect from 14 january 2011. Lindie was also appointed to the 

Audit and Risk Committees, effective 1 March 2011.

CEO Mike Rodel resigned with effect from 3 March 2011.  

Mike made a meaningful contribution to Hyprop during his 

tenure. The board thanks him and wishes him success in his future 

endeavours.
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

Pieter Prinsloo, a former Hyprop CEO with extensive retail 

property experience, has again been appointed to the board as 

CEO from 1 May 2011.

PRoSPeCTS 
Trading conditions in the retail sector will remain difficult in 2011, 

despite a recovering broader economy. Risks in the leisure industry, 

the underperformance of Sycom and the impact of increased  

utility charges on the overall cost of occupation for Hyprop tenants 

will also adversely affect earnings in the year ahead. However, 

steady growth in retail should continue to ease pressure on rental 

collections. In addition management is seeing an upturn in  

demand from retailers with increased enquiries for space from 

prospective tenants. 

WoRd oF APPReCIATIon
My thanks to the Hyprop executive team and staff for their hard 

work and dedication during a challenging year. My appreciation 

also to the board for their valuable input and our advisors and 

service providers for their support. We further extend our thanks to 

our retail and offices tenants for their continued perseverance in a 

tough economic environment. 

Michael Aitken

Chairman
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www.hydeparkcorner.co.za

hyde park

Hailed as the grande dame of South African shopping, 
Hyde Park Shopping Centre caters for the most 
discerning patrons.

Anchor tenants Pick n Pay, Nu Metro, Woolworths  
Sub anchors Clicks, CNA, DionWired, Exclusive Books, Look ‘n Listen

Retail  
GLA

Number 
of stores

Office 
GLA

Number of 
parking bays

Footcount
2010 Ownership

27 564m2 131 9 330m2 1 730 5 074 844 100%
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PoRTFolIo HIGHlIGHTS

PORTFOLIO REVIEW

Shopping centre income up 8,8% (like-for-like)

Total investment property R9,4 billion

R37 million refurbishment of Hyde Park completed

Vacancies reduced to 1,6% (excluding Stoneridge)

Lease renewals 64 908 m²

New leases 24 172 m²
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FInAnCIAl RevIeW
Revenue and distributable earnings from shopping centres increased 

by 18% and 14%, respectively, largely as a result of increased 

GLA following the completion of extensions at The Glen and Canal 

Walk. On a like-for-like basis, revenue from shopping centres 

increased by 13,3%, while distributable earnings grew 8,8%.

Overall property expenses in Hyprop’s shopping centres increased 

by 27%, driven primarily by increases in assessment rates and 

electricity costs. Excluding municipal expenses, total property 

expenses in the shopping centre portfolio increased by 5,4%.

Income from hotels underperformed due to pressure on the leisure 

market generally.

 

Net income* – Investment property

Rm

Investments by income

Revenue spread

Fund management expenses reduced due to the replacement of 

asset management fees with consulting fees payable to Redefine. 

The consulting agreement with Redefine was terminated on 

31 August 2010.

Total arrears in the portfolio at 31 December 2010 were 

R41 million (2009: R36,8 million). Arrears at year-end include 

back dated assessment rates of R6,1 million as a result of council 

increases in municipal values. Total provision for doubtful debts at 

year-end amounted to R15,7 million (2009: R13,9 million).

31 Dec 2009 31 Dec 2010 

13%

10%
37%

2%

4%
20%

8,8%

0

100

200

300

400
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600

Net 
Income*

Stoneridge Southcoast
Mall

The 
Mall

The 
Glen

Hyde 
Park

Canal 
Walk

Other 1%

Sycom 11%

Hotels 5%

Offices 4%

Stoneridge 4%

Southcoast Mall 2%

The Mall 10%

Hyde Park 13%

The Glen 15%

Canal Walk 35%

Other 3%

Turnover rent 1%

Municipal cost 
recovery 20%

Monthly parking 1%

Customer parking 5%

Operating cost 
recovery 12%

Office rental 4%

Retail rental 54%

*Like-for-like
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PORTFOLIO REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Business segment

 31 dec 2010  31 Dec 2009

Revenue
(R’000)

distributable
earnings

(R’000)
Revenue

(R’000)

Distributable
earnings

(R’000)

Canal Walk  387 810  276 462  339 144  244 496 

The Glen  163 328  103 096  113 530  75 429 

Hyde Park  140 613  88 080  121 084  79 536 

The Mall  107 414  64 995  94 093  66 047 

Stoneridge  49 523  27 552  47 767  23 174 

Southcoast Mall  21 600  13 372  20 520  13 624 

Shopping centres  870 288  573 557  736 138  502 306 

offices  49 858  28 014  36 101  23 668 

Hotels  64 764  11 407  18 329  5 214 

Investment property  984 910  612 978  790 568  531 188 

listed property securities  119 990  119 990  119 769  119 769 

Straight-line rental income accrual  14 148  14 148  13 318  13 318 

 1 119 048  747 116  923 655  664 275 

Fund management expenses (35 061) (47 840)

Net interest (paid)/received (121 554) (70 829)

net operating income 590 501 545 606

Non-core income 905 905

Share of income from associate 15 518 11 566

Straight-line rental income accrual (14 148) (13 318)

Total  1 119 048  592 776  923 655  544 759

Segmental overview

neT ASSeT vAlue
The net asset value per combined unit (“NAV”) at year-end was R47,26, representing a 6,7% increase on the NAV of R44,29 at 31 December 2009. 

Excluding deferred taxation, the NAV at year-end was R57,01, equating to Hyprop’s combined unit price at 31 December 2010 of R57,00.



13

Business segment
Rentable area

(m²)

Value attributable
to Hyprop value per

rentable area
dec 2010

(R/m²)
dec 2010

(R’000)
Dec 2009

(R’000)

Canal Walk  150 394  4 556 000  4 040 000  37 867 

The Glen  74 583  1 535 433  1 439 234  27 392 

Hyde Park  36 894  1 277 000  1 250 000 34 613

The Mall  37 009  918 000  905 000  24 805 

Stoneridge  50 241  407 700  425 700  9 016 

Southcoast Mall  29 361  129 500  140 500  8 821 

Shopping centres  378 482  8 823 633  8 200 434  28 125 

offices  22 221  331 000  300 500  14 896 

 400 703  9 154 633  8 500 934  27 392 

Hotels  271 000 288 000

Investment property  400 703  9 425 633  8 788 934  28 068 

Development property   73 674*  87 743*  

Listed property securities  1 529 268 1 453 838

Investment in associate  210 055  169 499 

 400 703  11 238 630  10 500 014 

*Rosebank Gardens

Investment property

Investment property was independently valued by Old Mutual 

Investment Group: Property Investments (Proprietary) Limited using 

the discounted cash flow method.

Investment property increased in value by R517 million, a 5,8% 

increase, to R9,5 billion. 

listed property securities

Hyprop’s investment in Sycom was valued at R1,5 billion at  

31 December 2010 based on the closing price on that date of 

R20,72 per unit. 

Sycom underperformed in the year, resulting in no income growth 

from this investment.

Borrowings

Net borrowings at 31 December 2010 of R1,4 billion equated to 

a gearing ratio of 12,6%.

The average interest rate on long-term loans was 9,37%  

(2009: 9,48%).

R450 million of borrowings was refinanced at year-end, resulting 
in an increase in the average interest rate on long-term loans to 
9,44% from january 2011.

develoPMenTS
Hyde Park
The R37 million refurbishment of Hyde Park was successfully 
completed in time for December trading. Renovations included 
upgrades to escalators, new energy-efficient skylights, enhanced 
security systems, a new parking and security office, a stylish 
concierge desk as well as new energy-efficient lighting throughout 
the malls. The revamp also included upgrades to the bathrooms 
and kitchens in the office towers.

The construction of a new access road leading to both the 
northern parkade and Southern Sun Hotel remains outstanding 
pending the relocation of electrical cables by City Power.

Rosebank
Planning for the refurbishment and extension to The Mall is in the 
advanced stages. Due to complex town planning issues and the 
management of various interest groups in the Rosebank node, the 
scheme is currently undergoing a detailed design development 
process with a view to extracting maximum value. 

valuations
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(See ‘Chairman’s Report’ ‘and the circular posted on 21 April 2011 

for further detail.)

InveSTMenT PeRFoRMAnCe
Hyprop has posted an impressive average growth of 12%  

in distributions over the past decade, with 17 years of  

consecutive growth. 

Over the past 10 years Hyprop’s combined unit price has recorded 

an average growth of 20% per annum. During the year 

29 924 425 million units traded, equating to 18% of total 

combined units in issue.

Notwithstanding continued tough trading conditions Hyprop again 

outperformed its peers on the PLS index as well as the ALSI. 

oPeRATIonAl PeRFoRMAnCe
Overall retail spend increased 17% during the year while spend 

per head was up 11% to R143. Footcount across the portfolio was 

up 5% with The Glen showing a marked improvement of 14% 

driven by the additional retail space opened at the end of 2009. 

Strict focus on lease renewals was maintained resulting in 

continued high occupancy levels with the portfolio 96% let. 

The redevelopment will likely incorporate a complete refurbishment 

and extension of the existing centre. 

To date the proposed scheme has received a positive response from 

both existing retailers as well as prospective new tenants. 

ACquISITIonS
On 6 December 2010 Hyprop announced the proposed acquisition 

of Attfund Retail. The transaction will add 11 properties to 

Hyprop’s portfolio including Clearwater Mall, Woodlands 

Boulevard, Atterbury Value Mart and Centurion Mall (25% 

undivided share) in Gauteng and CapeGate Retail Precinct, 

Somerset Value Mart, Willow Bridge Lifestyle Centre and a 20% 

indirect share in Garden Route Mall in the Western Cape. The 

portfolio further includes three office parks as well as 8,9 million 

Sycom units and 2,6 million Acucap units. 

Following the conclusion of the acquisition Hyprop’s market 

capitalisation will increase to approximately R13 billion. Redefine’s 

interest in Hyprop will reduce to approximately 29%.

The total payment consideration of R8,986 billion will see Hyprop 

issue 92 million Hyprop units at R54 per combined unit, while the 

remainder of the purchase consideration will be settled by the 

assumption of existing Attfund Retail debt facilities and cash. 

PORTFOLIO REVIEW (CONTINUED)

100

150

50

200

300

230

350

400

450

PLS growthALSI growthHyprop growth

20
10

20
09

20
08

20
07

20
06

20
05

20
04

20
03

Unit price performance against indices



15

www.themallofrosebank.co.za

the mall of rosebank

Situated in the heart of cosmopolitan Rosebank,  
The Mall provides amenities to a wide range of 
shoppers from business executives, celebrities and 
international visitors to fun seekers.

Anchor tenants Clicks, Pick n Pay, Planet Fitness, Ster Kinekor, Stuttafords, Truworths

Retail  
GLA

Number 
of stores

Office 
GLA

Number of 
parking bays

Footcount
2010 Ownership

37 009m2 120 17 713m2 1 617 9 817 871 100%
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PORTFOLIO REVIEW (CONTINUED)

vacancies

Total vacancies reduced to 3,9% at 31 December 2010 (2009: 4,5%) or 15 878 m². Excluding Stoneridge, which opened in September 

2008, vacancies at year-end were 1,6% (2009: 1,9%). 

During the year the focus remained on reducing vacancy levels at Stoneridge. Management’s efforts to enhance the tenant mix has seen a 

number of underperforming tenants replaced with better performing retailers. 

 31 dec 2010  31 Dec 2009

Business segment (m²) (%) (m²) (%)

Canal Walk*  1 602 1,1  3 013 2,0

The Glen  464 0,6  521 0,7

Hyde Park*  833 2,3  860 2,3

The Mall  907 2,5  612 1,7

Stoneridge  10 026 20,0  11 399 22,7

Southcoast Mall  1 777 6,1  1 373 4,7

Retail  15 609 4,1  17 778 4,7

offices#  163 0,9

Hotels^ 269 3,6 269 3,6

Total  15 878 3,9  18 210 4,5

* Includes office component
# Includes The Mall Offices and Cradock Heights
^ Office component of The Grace
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www.stoneridge.co.za

Located in the high growth Greenstone/Longmeadow 
node, this trendsetting open-air lifestyle centre is 
designed to meet all shopping requirements in a  
family-oriented environment.

Anchor tenants Food Lovers Market, Hi-Fi Corporation, Superspar, Toys R Us, Virgin Active

Retail  
GLA

Number 
of stores

Number of 
parking bays Ownership

50 241m2 74 2 751 90%

stoneridge
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letting activity

During the year 64 908 m², comprising 16% of the portfolio, was renewed with an average growth of 9,3% and at an average escalation of 

8,3% per annum. New leases accounted for 24 172 m², or 6% of the portfolio, at an average escalation of 9,1% per annum.

PORTFOLIO REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Business segment
GLA 
(m2)

Average
contractual
escalation 

(%)

Retail  59 080 8,22

Offices  5 828 9,74

Total  64 908 8,30

Renewals

Business segment
GLA 
(m2)

Average
contractual
escalation 

(%)

Retail  19 467 9,09

Offices  4 705 9,42

Total  24 172 9,13

new lettings

Business segment
Net rental 

(R/m2)

Canal Walk retail  174,06 

Canal Walk offices  67,91 

The Glen  140,75 

Hyde Park retail  221,10 

Hyde Park offices  72,43 

The Mall  146,96 

Stoneridge  78,77 

Southcoast Mall  78,85 

Weighted average net rental per m2

Hyprop lease renewal profile by income
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Vacancy
%

2011
%

2012
%

2013
%

2014
%

2015
%

Retail

Income 17 13 21 15 34

Area 4 12 8 18 14 44

offices

Income 32 28 14 2 24

Area 5 30 26 13 2 24

Total

Income 18 14 21 14 33

Area 4 14 11 17 12 42

leASe exPIRY ReneWAl PRoFIle
Canal Walk underwent an extensive lease renewal cycle and was successful in achieving good growth in a challenging  

economic environment. 

lease renewal profile

Hyprop lease renewal profile by area

%
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PORTFOLIO REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Tenant profile

Rank Tenant
GLA 

occupied m2

% of total GLA 
retail

% of total 
income retail

 1 Edcon  23 627 7 4

 2 Pick n Pay  21 167 6 2

 3 Massmart  19 405 5 2

 4 Woolworths  17 280 5 2

 5 Foschini  14 899 4 4

 6 Shoprite Checkers  14 051 4 1

 7 Mr Price Group  12 600 4 3

 8 Avusa (Nu Metro)  12 212 3 2

 9 Truworths  8 136 2 2

 10 Stuttafords  7 515 2 1

 150 892 42 23

exposure to top 10 retailers

TenAnT PRoFIle
At year-end large national retailers accounted for 42% of Hyprop’s GLA and 23% of income. The tenant mix remains diversified with no 

single tenant group accounting for more than 7% of GLA or 4% of income. 

Tenant grading by GLA (%)*

*Excludes Southern Sun Hyde Park

C Grade 16%

B Grade 20%

A Grade 64%

A Grade: Large national tenants, large listed tenants and major franchises
B Grade: Smaller national tenants, medium-sized franchises, medium to large retailers
C Grade: Smaller line stores
Due to the nature of the Hyprop portfolio, the above categorisations are largely subjective.   

Tenant grading by income (%)*

C Grade 24%

B Grade 28%

A Grade 48%

Tenants in the portfolio have been categorised by grade as follows:
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FoCuS And PRoSPeCTS FoR 2011
Hyprop’s strong balance sheet and low gearing continues to 

position the company well for future growth. The proposed Attfund 

Retail acquisition will expand the portfolio considerably and the 

bedding down of the new properties will be a key focus for the 

year ahead. 

The development programme within the existing portfolio will 

focus on the Rosebank node. 

Conclusion of the Attfund Retail transaction, which includes a 

small number of Sycom units, may provide impetus to an exit 

strategy for this investment. Consideration will also be given in the 

year ahead to the disposal of Hyprop’s interest in VPIF. 

With a depressed global and local leisure market, we anticipate 

occupancy levels at Hyprop’s hotels to remain under pressure in 

the short to medium term.

Increased enquiries from prospective tenants across the portfolio 

are promising signs of an improvement in retailer sentiment.

Strategic focus will remain on growing the portfolio through the 

acquisition of quality retail properties, disposing of non-core 

investments, proactively managing vacancy levels and tenant mix 

and ensuring continued growth in distributions. 

A Grade: Large national tenants, large listed tenants and major franchises
B Grade: Smaller national tenants, medium-sized franchises, medium to large retailers
C Grade: Smaller line stores
Due to the nature of the Hyprop portfolio, the above categorisations are largely subjective.   
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The capacity of the directors at the date of this report can be 
summarised as follows:
•   executive directors: CEO (Mike Rodel resigned 3 March 2011; 

Pieter Prinsloo appointed 1 May 2011) and Financial Director 
Laurence Cohen are responsible for the day-to-day operations 
of the company. 

•   non-executive directors: Ethan Dube, Kevin Ellerine, Mike 
Lewin, David Rice, Stewart Shaw-Taylor and Marc Wainer 
represent at board level significant combined unitholders in, 
suppliers to and associates of Hyprop.

•   Independent non-executive directors: Michael Aitken 
(Chairman), Lindie Engelbrecht, Roy McAlpine and Les Weil 
are regarded as independent and are neither significant 
combined unitholders in, nor suppliers to Hyprop.

Post year-end Pieter Prinsloo, a former CEO of Hyprop, was 
appointed as CEO effective 1 May 2011, following the resignation 
of incumbent Mike Rodel. Lindie Engelbrecht was appointed as an 
independent non-executive director with effect from 14 january 
2011. Effective 3 December 2010, Mike Lewin and David Rice 
were appointed to the board as non-executive directors representing 
Redefine and Khosi Sibisi resigned as an independent non-
executive director effective 1 December 2010. Wolf Cesman 
resigned as a non-executive director and janys Finn as his alternate 
director in May 2010. 

The name of and a brief curriculum vitae for each current director 
are set out on pages 40 and 41 of this report.

BoARd CHARTeR
A Board Charter sets out the roles and responsibilities of the 
board. These include procedural matters such as board meetings, 
composition, processes, remuneration and annual evaluation of 
performance. With the assistance of an independent corporate 
governance consultant, the Charter is currently under review to 
reflect changes in regulations and legislation including the King III 
Report and the new Companies Act. 

To assist in the discharge of its responsibilities, the board delegates 
certain tasks to board sub-committees including the Audit, 
Remuneration, Nomination, Risk and Investment Committees. 
Nonetheless the board remains responsible and accountable for 
the company’s performance and affairs. The directors are 
cognisant of the fact that delegating authority to these sub-
committees in no way absolves them of their individual and 
collective responsibilities and ultimate accountability. 

The roles and responsibilities of the Chairman and CEO, and 
likewise those of the executive and non-executive directors, are 
strictly separated to ensure fair decision-making processes where 
no one director has the power to unduly influence deliberations. 
The Chairman provides the board with leadership and guidance 

The board’s commitment to sound corporate governance, 
transparency, accountability and integrity is evidenced in Hyprop’s 
interpretation of the King Code of Governance Principles as set out 
in the King III Report, which came into effect 1 March 2010.  
The board of directors aims to integrate the company’s growth 
strategy, approach to risk and opportunity and sustainability into 
daily operations. It further endeavours to ensure that these 
components form part of all strategic decisions, audits and 
assessments. Hyprop’s challenge is to balance broader social 
objectives with performance in an entrepreneurial market economy, 
within a framework of governance principles in line with global 
trends. This encompasses all operational, financial, environmental 
and social aspects of the company’s performance and activities.

Hyprop’s board of directors actively reviews and enhances the 
company’s systems of control and governance on a continual basis 
to ensure that the business is managed ethically and within 
prudently determined risk parameters in conformity with South 
African accepted standards of best practice. These policies on 
corporate governance and ethics are communicated by way of 
regular executive meetings with the various shopping centres.

In line with the King III Report’s ‘apply or explain’ approach, the 
directors will continue to state the extent to which the company 
applies good corporate governance principles to create and 
sustain value for stakeholders over the short, medium and long 
term and to explain any instances of non-compliance. The board 
does not consider this a static responsibility. The process is 
therefore subject to continuous monitoring to ensure ongoing 
compliance in line with developments in corporate governance in 
South Africa and internationally. 

During the year the following developments in corporate governance 
were achieved: 
•   appointment  of  an  external  consultant  to  assist  with  risk 

identification and mitigation strategies; and
•   separation of the functions of the Audit and Risk Committees. 

THe BoARd
Structure
In compliance with the recommendations of the King III Report, the 
board comprises a majority of non-executive directors. With only 
four of the ten non-executive directors currently independent, the 
company intends to appoint further appropriately skilled 
independent candidates should they be identified and suitable. 
Any new appointees will be required to possess the necessary 
skills to contribute meaningfully to board deliberations. Although 
no formal assessment of the directors’ independence was conducted 
during the year, the board is satisfied with the independence of the 
independent non-executives. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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www.southcoastmall.co.za

Anchor tenants Builders Express, Checkers, Clicks, Game, House & Home

Retail  
GLA

Number 
of stores

Number of 
parking bays

Footcount
2010 Ownership

29 361m2 88 1 523 3 940 730 50%

southcoast mall

Situated off the N2 freeway on the picturesque South 
Coast of KwaZulu-Natal, Southcoast Mall is a vibrant 
shopping centre designed to meet the retail and 
leisure needs of this market.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

All directors have unrestricted access to the advice and services of 
the company secretary and to all company records, information 
and documentation. Non-executive directors further have access to 
management at all times. All directors are entitled, at the 
company’s expense, to seek independent professional advice on 
any matters pertaining to the company where this is deemed to be 
necessary.

PRoCeSSeS
Company secretary
The company secretary, Probity Business Services (Proprietary) 
Limited, is an independent company secretarial practice providing 
services to numerous jSE-listed companies. The board is comfortable 
that its representative, Neville Toerien, is sufficiently qualified and 
skilled to act in accordance with and update directors in terms of 

and encourages proper deliberation on all board matters. The 
CEO and other executive management are responsible for the 
company’s daily operations and implementing strategic and 
operational decisions. The non-executive directors have extensive 
property experience in common to contribute a wide range of skills 
and expertise. 

The board meets at least quarterly with additional meetings when 
required. The independent non-executive Chairman meets with his 
fellow non-executive directors regularly on an informal basis. 

Details of attendance at board and board sub-committee meetings 
during the year are set out below (the number in brackets reflects 
the total number of meetings held during the year and during the 
tenure of the director):

Years of 
service (at 

31 Dec 
2010)

Board meetings Audit
Committee

meetings

Risk
Committee

meetings

Remuneration
Committee

meetings

Nomination
Committee

meetings(ordinary) (special)

MS Aitken (Chairman) †^~
10 years,  
4 months 4(4) 3(3) 1(3)> 1(1) 1(1)

WE Cesman* (resigned 31 May 2010) 1(2)

LR Cohen” (Financial Director)
4 years,  
1 month 4(4) 3(3) 3(3)> 2 (2) 1(1)> 1(1)>

EG Dube*
5 years,  

8 months 3(4) 1(3) 1(1) 1(1)

KM Ellerine*
1 year,  

4 months 3(4) 3(3)

Mj Lewin* (appointed 3 December 2010) 1 month 1(1)

jR McAlpine†
5 years,  

11 months 4(4) 3(3) 3(3) 1(1) 1(1)

DH Rice* (appointed 3 December 2010) 1 month 1(1)

MF Rodel (CEO) (resigned 3 March 2011) 4(4) 3(3) 3(3)> 2 (2) 1(1)> 1(1)>

S Shaw-Taylor*
10 years,  
4 months 4(4) 2(3) 3(3) 2 (2) 1(1)> 1(1)>

MY Sibisi† (resigned 1 December 2010) 2(4) 1(2)

M Wainer*
8 years,  

9 months 4(4) 1(3) 1(1)>

LI Weil†#
7 years,  

7 months 4(4) 2(3) 3(3)

# Chairman Audit Committee 
“ Chairman Risk Committee
^ Chairman Remuneration Committee 
~ Chairman Nomination Committee

* Non-executive
† Independent non-executive     
> Attended by invitation 
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the recommendations of the King III Report and other relevant 
regulations and legislation. 

Rotation and appointment
In terms of the articles of association non-executive directors are 
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at least once 
every three years. Accordingly, Marc Wainer, Roy McAlpine and 
Les Weil will retire at the next annual general meeting. Being 
eligible, they may offer themselves for re-election in accordance 
with the company’s articles of association. The appointment of 
new directors is confirmed by combined unitholders at the first 
annual general meeting following their appointment in terms of 
the articles of association. Therefore Lindie Engelbrecht, Mike 
Lewin, Pieter Prinsloo and David Rice will have their appointments 
confirmed at the upcoming annual general meeting. 

The board, supported by the Nomination Committee, is responsible 
for new appointments. Identification, selection and election of 
candidates are conducted in a formal and transparent manner. 
The board and committee take into account the necessary blend 
of skills and experience that will enable new directors to 
meaningfully contribute to the company’s operational progress 
and sustainable transformation, with specific relevant factors 
taken into consideration including diversity. 

New appointees to the board are introduced to key senior 
management at  company and  shopping  centre  levels;  taken on 
site  visits  to  shopping  centres  and  other  investment  nodes;  and 
provided with an overview of board processes and procedures 
including copies of the most recent board pack, minutes and 
interim and annual financial results.

During the year directors did not perform a self-evaluation 
exercise. It is intended that they will do so going forward. 

Conflicts of interest and share dealings
Directors are required to declare to the Chairman and company 
secretary their unitholdings, additional directorships and any 
potential conflicts of interest. In conjunction with the Financial 
Director and sponsor, they ensure that any required disclosure in 
respect of trades in Hyprop units is published on SENS. Directors 
and senior employees with access to the company’s financial 
results and other price-sensitive information are barred from 
dealing in Hyprop’s combined units for specified time periods 
preceding relevant announcements. 

A notification is sent to all directors and affected staff alerting 
them that the company is entering a closed period. 

The manner in which this is regulated is clearly explained in  
the company’s Code of Ethics and Conduct, to which all staff  
have access. 

Regulatory and legislative compliance

It is the responsibility of the company secretary to monitor 
changes and developments in corporate governance and together 
with the executive directors, to keep the board updated in this 
regard. The board reviews any changes and appropriate 
measures are implemented to comply with best practice in such a 
way to support sustainable performance. The directors appreciate 
that strategy, risk and sustainability should be interwoven in daily 
operations and form part of all strategic decisions, assessments 
and audits as set out in the King III Report. 

The company secretary in conjunction with the Financial Director 
ensures the company complies with all current and applicable 
regulations and legislation. In doing so they liaise closely with the 
company’s sponsor. During the year the Risk Committee embarked 
on a process, in consultation with an independent specialist 
consultant, to assess risk management and compliance related 
processes and procedures in the company and implement 
enhancements and improvements.

During the year the board received training on the new 
Companies Act and the King III Report. 

BoARd CoMMITTeeS
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee report is set out on page 49.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee report is set out on page 29.

nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee meets annually and is chaired by the 
company’s independent non-executive Chairman Michael Aitken.  
It further comprises independent non-executive director Roy 
McAlpine and non-executive director Ethan Dube. Stewart Shaw-
Taylor was appointed to the Nomination Committee effective 
November 2010. The CEO and Financial Director attend meetings 
by invitation. 

A formal Charter setting out the committee’s terms of reference is 
currently under review in line with the King III Report requirements. 

The committee is responsible for reviewing the scope and 
composition  of  the  board  and  its  sub  committees;  making 
recommendations to the board on the appointment of new 
executive  and  non-executive  directors;  establishing  succession 
plans,  particularly  for  the  Chairman  and  CEO;  and  identifying 
and nominating high-calibre candidates for the approval of the 
board to fill board vacancies as and when they arise.
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Formal terms of reference outlining the committee’s purpose, 

composition and responsibilities were adopted during the year. 

RISk MAnAGeMenT And InTeRnAl ConTRolS 
The board is responsible for the company’s systems of internal 

control and risk management. The effectiveness of these systems is 

monitored by both the Audit and Risk Committees, which are 

assisted by management supervision, reporting and periodic 

reviews as well as by an outsourced internal audit function. 

Risk management

The risk management process identifies, assesses and monitors any 

risks to which the company is exposed. It further recommends and 

monitors mitigation strategies. The board is cognisant of the need 

to set the levels of risk tolerance and formalise the risk management 

policy of the company and to this end a formal Risk Committee 

was commissioned and an external advisor appointed during the 

year. 

The risk management process will be further reviewed in detail on 

conclusion of the proposed Attfund Retail acquisition. 

The most significant risks faced by Hyprop encompass standard 

industry risks as indicated in the risk matrix below.

Further details on financial risk management, including the 

company’s exposure to interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity 

risk, are set out in note 30 to the annual financial statements.

Investment Committee
The committee meets on an ad-hoc basis when required to  
assess and consider any proposed investment or development 
opportunities. 

Risk Committee
The Risk Committee meets twice a year. Although the committee  
is now separated from the Audit Committee, an initiative 
implemented during the year, the members of the Risk Committee 
also attend Audit Committee meetings. At year-end the committee 
comprised then CEO Mike Rodel , Financial Director Laurence Cohen 
(committee chairman) and non-executive director Stewart Shaw-
Taylor. Post year-end independent non-executive director Lindie 
Engelbrecht was appointed to the Risk Committee effective  
1 March 2011. The incoming CEO (Pieter Prinsloo) will in due 
course also become a member of the committee.

The committee reports directly to the Audit Committee, which in turn 
reports to the board. It is responsible for reviewing and assessing 
the company’s risk control systems and ensuring that risk policies 
and strategies are effectively managed. Specifically, the committee 
is responsible for overseeing the development, effective  
imple mentation and annual review of a risk management plan.  
It makes recommendations to the board with regard to risk 
tolerance levels. 

During the year an external provider was appointed to identify  
risk areas and mitigation strategies to underpin the efforts of  
the committee. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED)

Risk matrix

Risk Mitigation strategies
Rental default and vacancies as a result of deteriorating 
financial position of tenants

•  Credit and TransUnion/ITC checks 
•  Security deposits and bank guarantees
•  Proactive leasing
•  Actioning of arrears under close scrutiny

Total or partial deterioration of investment property •   Insurance based on replacement cost and loss of income cover  
during reconstruction

•  Regular review of adequacy of cover and estimating replacement values 
Public liability •  Public liability insurance

•  Proactive property management
Interest rate risk •  Fixed interest costs for extended periods
Environmental risk •   Energy and resource conservation policies implemented at all properties 

(see ‘Sustainability Report’)
Staff retention •  Formalised remuneration and incentive policy in place
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Nothing has come to the attention of the directors to indicate that 
a material breakdown in the controls within the company has 
occurred during the year.

Post implementation of the Attfund Retail transaction, consideration 
will be given to employing a full time internal audit resource. 

IT governance
IT governance is an integral part of the company’s holistic 
approach to governance. It is the responsibility of the Risk 
Committee to effectively manage relevant IT risks. The committee 
reports to the Audit Committee, which in turn reports to the board. 
The committee will seek to formulate a formal IT governance policy 
and implement an IT internal control framework in due course. 

InTeRnAl ConTRolS 
Hyprop’s systems of internal control are designed to provide 
reasonable, but not absolute assurance as to the integrity and 
reliability of the financial statements. The systems are designed to 
manage rather than eliminate applicable risks. They are intended 
to safeguard, verify and maintain accountability of Hyprop’s 
assets. They are further intended to identify and minimise 
significant fraud, potential liability, loss and material misstatement 
while complying with applicable laws and regulations. 

In line with the King III Report, independent internal auditors 
annually conduct a risk-based internal audit. This is done on a 
rotation basis in respect of Hyprop’s various operations and forms 
an integral part of the overall risk management process. 
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canal walk
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The Remuneration Committee oversees the preparation of this 
remuneration report which forms part of this integrated report.  
The Chairman also attends the annual general meeting of the 
company to liaise with unitholders on any matters under the ambit 
of the committee. 

Remuneration philosophy
Hyprop aims to be regarded as an employer of choice. In order 
to ensure the attraction and long-term retention of high-calibre 
individuals, basic salaries are market-related and benchmarked 
against industry norms with adjustments made for the employee’s 
particular experience, qualifications, responsibilities and nature 
of work. 

The remuneration structure further includes performance incentives 
in the form of a phantom share scheme. Detailed information 
related to the phantom share scheme is provided on page 71 of 
the annual financial statements. Hyprop’s remuneration policy 
links these incentives to defined Key Results Areas (KRAs) which 
form the basis of all assessments of centre managers and senior 
management, as well as to Hyprop’s distribution performance. 

Michael Aitken
Remuneration Committee Chairman

1 March 2011

The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year, which 
the board deems sufficient to fulfil its purpose and responsibilities. 
It is chaired by the company’s independent non-executive 
Chairman Michael Aitken and further comprises independent non-
executive director Roy McAlpine and non-executive director Ethan 
Dube. Non-executive director Marc Wainer was appointed to the 
committee in November 2010. The CEO and any other directors 
may attend meetings by invitation, but are then excluded from 
deliberations relating to their own individual remuneration.

A formal Charter codifies the tasks and responsibilities of the 
committee. It is responsible for reviewing and recommending to 
the board the company’s remuneration of directors and all 
employees. It further assesses the overall company remuneration 
strategy. The Charter is currently being reviewed and updated to 
comply with the recommendations of the King III Report. 

The committee endeavours to ensure that the company remuneration 
strategy reflects the interests of all stakeholders, is comparable to 
the general pay environment of the sector and complies with all 
principles of good corporate governance. It further ensures that 
the balance of fixed and variable pay (in cash, combined units 
and other elements) meets the company’s needs and strategic 
objectives. In addition, the committee reviews whether the set 
objectives of the remuneration policy have been achieved. 

Remuneration for non-executive directors is a base fee (with the 
exception of the Investment Committee which is paid per meeting), 
pre-determined annually and approved by unitholders in annual 
general meetings. It is the responsibility of the committee to 
provide the necessary information to unitholders to enable them 
to appropriately consider the relevant resolution. 

Board fees are set out in the table below: 

 Type of fee

Proposed fee 
(2011)

R

Existing fee 
(2010)

R 
Board
Chairman 250 000 210 000
Member 160 000 150 000
Audit Committee
Chairman 120 000 100 000
Member 100 000 80 000
Risk Committee
Member 20 000
Remuneration Committee
Chairman 20 000 15 000
Member 20 000 15 000
nomination Committee
Chairman 20 000 15 000
Member 20 000 15 000

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE REPORT
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the mall
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2010
R000

2009
R000

2008
R000

2007
R000

2006
R000

Revenue  1 119 048  923 655  781 343  631 148  653 787 

Investment property income  984 910  790 568  658 674  589 463  550 870 

Straight-line rental income accrual  14 148  13 318  15 769  15 678  21 056 

Listed property securities income  119 990  119 769  106 900  26 008  81 861 

Property and other operating expenses  (371 932)  (259 380)  (205 209)  (177 585)  (174 731)

Net property income  747 116  664 275  576 134  453 563  479 056 

Other operating expenses  (36 044)  (47 840)  (41 353) (39 651)  (29 120)

Net interest  (121 554)  (70 829)  (17 080)  3 664  (106 725)

Received  7 006  26 931  39 408  85 362  1 917 

Paid  (128 560)  (97 760)  (56 488)  (81 698)  (108 642)

Net operating income  589 518  545 606  517 701  417 576  343 211 

Non-core income  905  905  1 871  2 196 

Change in fair value  586 121  583 733  157 091  1 393 060  1 329 744 

Investment property  517 262  580 121  225 630  1 355 012  1 234 516 

Straight-line rental income accrual  (14 148)  (13 318)  (15 769)  (15 678)  (21 056)

Listed property securities  75 430  32 391  (52 770)  53 726  116 284 

Derivative instruments  7 577  (15 462)

Surplus on disposal  8 392  25 624  2 675 

Investment property  8 392  2 235  731 

Listed property securities  23 389  1 944 

Amortisation of financial guarantee for associate  953  715  4 139  1 742 

Amortisation of debenture premium  110 810  97 696  85 492  43 088  35 248 

Income before debenture interest  1 288 307  1 228 655  774 686  1 883 286  1 710 878 

Debenture interest  (593 024)  (544 851)  (511 629)  (405 018)  (324 831)

Net income before share of income from associate  695 283  683 804  263 057  1 478 268  1 386 047 

Share of income/(loss) from associate  55 201  20 305  (11 799)  66 755 

Net income before taxation  750 484  704 109  251 258  1 545 023  1 386 047 

Taxation  (147 496)  (152 084)  100 615  (385 753)  (373 681)

Net income after taxation  602 988  552 025  351 873  1 159 270  1 012 366 

Investment property at fair value  9 425 626  8 788 928  7 458 847  6 894 379  6 464 010 

Distribution per combined unit (cents)  357 328 308  270  225 

FIVE-YEAR REVIEW
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Skills development and training 

Hyprop is committed to providing its employees with continuous 

training and development to broaden the skills base. To this end it 

has implemented a programme of in-house and external training. 

Total spend for the year was R645 000 (2009: R158 000). 

Courses included: 

•   First Aid and Fire Fighting

•   The  Canal  Walk  Way  –  Customer  Service  and  Employee 

Motivation

•   Hyprop Graduate Internship

•   Shopping Centre investigation tour to America

•   Shopping Centre investigation tour to China

•   Business Communication

•   Property Management System

•   Microsoft Office Applications

•   Shopping Centre Management

•   Facilities Management

B-BBee
Hyprop supports the Property Transformation Charter in its pursuit 

of real transformation and continues to implement appropriate 

B-BBEE initiatives. A programme is in place to address each 

section of the Charter’s scorecard and Hyprop has set targets in 

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 

Hyprop is strongly committed to acting as a responsible corporate 

citizen dedicated to real and sustainable transformation. The 

company follows responsible social and environmental practices, 

which are integrated into the business growth strategy in 

compliance with the recommendations of the King III Report. These 

principles form an integral part of daily operational activities, risk 

assessments and audits. 

HuMAn CAPITAl
The company recognises the intrinsic value of its people to the 

success and advancement of the organisation. As such, Hyprop’s 

employees are central to ensuring value for all stakeholders. 

The demographics of the company’s 148-strong staff complement 

are set out in the graphs below.

During the year Hyprop identified the need for strategic intervention 

to align company values and human capital practice with the 

company strategy. To this end, the company focused on:

•   defining employee values and company policies and procedures;

•   standardising performance management principles;

•   updating job profiles;

•   increasing the frequency and quality of employee engagement;

•   establishing  a  system  of  ‘recruitment  from  within’  before 

opening up vacancies to external candidates; and

•   prioritising employee skills development.

Gender profile male

 White 38%

 African 44%

 Indian 11%

 Coloured 7%

 White 38%

 African 20%

 Indian 20%

 Coloured 22%

Staff demographic profile

Gender profile female
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envIRonMenT
Hyprop acknowledges the impact its operations may have on the 
environment, local communities and tenants/occupants of its 
buildings. Accordingly, as a member of the Green Building 
Council of South Africa (GBCSA), the company has undertaken to 
ensure that its buildings are managed in an environmentally 
sustainable way with the minimum negative impact on the 
environment and wider community. This translates into ensuring all 
new developments and buildings are designed and built to offer 
a healthy, efficient and productive environment for occupants. 

Hyprop’s development and asset managers are responsible for 
setting environmental objectives and targets in conjunction with 
recommendations by an independent consulting firm. Hyprop is 
currently developing an environmental management system and is 
in the early stages of identifying areas of environmental impact 
(energy, waste and water). The development and asset managers 
are further responsible for the company’s climate change policies. 
All current shopping centres in Hyprop’s portfolio will pursue these 
strategies to drive ongoing improvement. All new property 
developments will pursue the GBCSA’s official Green Star rating as 
it provides an appropriate benchmarking tool for the retail sector.

All centres use independent contractor Utilities Administration 
Services to monitor that energy savings comply with the 
requirements set by the local council.

line with the B-BBEE Act and the Department of Trade and 

Industry’s B-BBEE Codes of Good Practice. Funding constraints 

continue to pose obstacles in regard to BEE equity ownership. The 

company is also awaiting the finalisation of the proposed Attfund 

Retail transaction before proceeding further with these initiatives. 

Preferential procurement

The company encourages preferential procurement and has put in 

place a programme of verifying all supplier B-BBEE certificates. To 

date the company has achieved in excess of 50% preferential 

procurement.

enterprise development

Enterprise development is encouraged at company level and is 

evident in the ongoing contribution to VPIF through the transfer of 

asset management skills. VPIF was launched in March 2006 by 

Hyprop and Vunani Properties, a subsidiary of black-owned 

financial services company Vunani Capital. Vunani Properties holds 

a 50,2% stake in VPIF with Hyprop holding the remaining 49,8%. 

VPIF consists of mainly commercial properties with government 

tenants in johannesburg, Pretoria and Cape Town. Vunani Capital 

CEO, Ethan Dube, is a non-executive director on Hyprop’s board.

Socio-economic development

See ‘Corporate social investment’ on page 36.

Demographic profile per number of employees Employees by skill level

 White 38% 

 African 31%

 Indian 16%

 Coloured 22%

 Administrative 56%

 Middle Management 19%

 Maintenance 17%

 Senior Management 8%
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Water conservation efforts included increased water supply from a 
proprietary borehole, while a tank irrigation system supplies all of the 
centre’s non-drinking water needs such as maintaining the gardens.

Hyde Park
Hyde Park continued its energy conservation efforts to fit all 
lighting in the centre and office block to operate by way of an 
electronic start-up system. High energy consumption light bulbs 
were further replaced with lower wattage bulbs. Southern Sun 
Hyde Park operates with energy-efficient fluorescent and LED 
lighting. A total of over R2,8 million was invested in lighting 
upgrades during the year.

Installation of the new skylights was completed in November 
2010. These use advanced energy saving glass to flood the mall 
with natural light. They further maintain an ambient temperature in 
the centre. 

Tenants are encouraged to install energy-saving systems and 
receive regular notices in this regard from centre management. A 
further monthly progress report system has been initiated to 
maintain control and allow for continued improvement and 
innovation.

The Mall
Online meter monitoring will continue to track progress on energy-
saving initiatives such as energy-efficient lamps, the staggered 
shutdown of the air-conditioning chillers and the switching off of all 
internal centre lighting between midnight and 06:00.  

The Mall regularly investigates additional energy and water saving 
measures. Green building initiatives will be rolled out during  
The Mall’s redevelopment programme starting in the near future. 

Stoneridge 
Stoneridge has maintained its conservation efforts including 
energy-efficient globes and seasonal lighting controls which 
conserve at least three hours of sunlight a day. Only two-thirds of 
lighting in the mezzanine parking level is switched on during peak 
hours, and only 50% during off-peak time. 

Storm water is directed to a pond where the silt settles and is 
removed without the use of chemicals, allowing only the water to 
join the river system. The centre plans to use some of the water 
collected for irrigation purposes. Stoneridge further installed rain 
sensors during the year to minimise the use of water for 
irrigation. 

To improve the aesthetics in the precinct surrounding the centre, 
Stoneridge has implemented a clean-up project.

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT (CONTINUED)

Canal Walk
Canal Walk has been extremely successful in reducing its 
environmental footprint while increasing conservation through 
various initiatives. During the year the centre achieved a reduction 
in maximum demand of 40% below the industry benchmark – 34% 
below the SANS 204 standard – while reducing electricity 
consumption (kWh) to 3% below the industry benchmark. The 
centre received bronze in the National Energy Barometer Awards 
2010 for its efforts. 

Light green roofs on the new retail units adjacent to the parking 
area – as on the main structure – ensure higher reflectivity and emit 
radiation to reduce energy consumption. Double-walled tinted 
glazing in the retail units supplements temperature insulation and 
reduces ultraviolet ray penetration into stores. Natural daylight fills 
3 000 m² through skylights and glass domes and also contributes 
to energy savings. In addition retail units operate economy cycle 
air handling units which provide a variable fresh air supply. 

The150W metal helide bulbs on the roof level parking areas were 
replaced by more energy-efficient high luminous low pressure 
sodium vapour bulbs and 26W CFLs. 

Further monitoring equipment was installed during the year on  
the Building Management System to control air-conditioning  
and extraction systems. The System is directly linked to the City 
Council’s high voltage electrical meters to set the centre’s  
maximum demand by preventing it from exceeding a pre-set 
maximum value. This results in a monthly maximum demand saving 
of 1,3MVA. 

Water pressure in the sprinkler systems and fire hydrants is tracked 

by monitoring sensors. This has reduced water consumption at 

Canal Walk by more than 2 600 kl per month. 

As part of the centre’s energy-saving plan, a recognised energy 
consultant completes an annual audit in order to identify further 
conservation opportunities. 

The Glen
In 2010 The Glen continued its efficient energy-saving programme. 
This included energy-efficient light bulbs in all parking and retail 
common areas. 

In a pioneering R12 million initiative the new cable installation 
emanating from a nearby underutilised substation serves as a 
back-up cable for the centre. The substation releases 5,8 MVA 
back into the grid and is of great benefit to the surrounding 
communities and residential developments. 
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Southcoast Mall
Southcoast Mall is surrounded by eco estates and wetlands. As 
the centre is therefore located in an eco-friendly and conscious 
community, it pledges its continuous commitment to environmental 
sustainability. Its formalised Operational Environmental Manage-
ment Plan (OEMP) promotes actions to minimise pollution and 
environmental harm. All tenants, customers, employees and 
contractors are encouraged to support the centre’s goals in 
reducing pollution, protecting the environment and limiting its 
carbon footprint. 

Southcoast Mall implements a highly successful waste recycling 
initiative. During the year the centre recycled 5 257 kg of cans, 
11 325 kg of glass, 25 490 kg of plastic and 91 053 kg of paper. 
This brings the total recycled materials for the year to 133 125 kg. 

The centre’s cleaning contractor uses environmentally friendly 
products and also makes sure that hazardous materials are 
correctly handled and stored to prevent pollution. The centre further 
has a response plan in the event of hazardous materials spills. 

Following an energy audit Southcoast Mall has introduced an 
energy-efficient programme. Subsequently the centre has seen a 
14% reduction in energy consumption by using energy-efficient 
light bulbs. Currently energy consumption stands at 6,970W per 
hour. An investment of almost R1 million in further energy-saving 
initiatives is required to lower consumption even further and reach 
the target of 5,180 W per hour. Air-conditioning is switched on 
later in the mornings and switched off earlier in the evenings to 
save at least 60 hours a month. 

Southcoast Mall has introduced an organic market once a month 
where the emphasis is on fresh organic and naturally grown 
produce. During the current year this initiative will be rolled out to 
a full Centre Court market to increase awareness. 

Hibiscus Coast Municipality is in the process of conducting a full 
environmental audit on the centre. 

RISk, HeAlTH And SAFeTY
The health and safety of employees, tenants and shoppers at 
Hyprop’s centres remain a key priority. During the year risk 
management was addressed in a variety of ways:

Canal Walk

The centre’s dedicated technical team operates under a registered 
engineer to ensure all critical machinery and equipment is 
inspected and monitored on a regular basis in accordance with 
the Occupational Health and Safety Act. All health and safety 
representatives received basic safety training during the year. The 
centre’s Facilities Manager was appointed as the central health 
and safety officer to ensure all employees and contractors adhere 
to safety regulations, requirements and procedures. 

Accredited service providers carried out scheduled maintenance 

of the major plant, services and equipment including sprinkler 

systems, fire detection systems, escalators, elevators, transformers, 

fire pumps and motors according to computer generated 

maintenance schedules. 
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the Health and Safety Policy. The centre is also subject to bi-annual 
Occupational Health and Safety audits conducted by independent 
consultancy Scott Safe. During the year a Crisis Management 
Team was formed and evacuation procedures formalised and 
disseminated to all tenants and employees. Training courses such 
as First Aid and Fire Fighting were provided to two employees, 
eight security guards and three cleaning staff at the centre and at 
the Action Training Academy. 

Southcoast Mall
The onsite security team conducts a weekly self-inspection to 
continually assess risks. All new suppliers and tenants attend a 
Safety Induction Programme conducted by the centre’s Security 
Department. Southcoast Mall regularly conducts safety evacuation 
drills. The centre places a high premium on shopper security and 
works closely with the SAPS, Hibiscus Protection Services and 
Business Against Crime, holding regular meetings to stay abreast 
of new trends and risk management strategies. 

First Aid training is compulsory for employees and all employees 
attended a Level 1 First Aid course during the year. Two managers 
attended a Fire Fighting course while three further employees will 
be attending a Health and Safety course in the current year. During 
the year no casualties or injuries were reported. 

Scott Safe will perform a full health and safety audit to identify any 
areas of shortfall in the current year. 

CoRPoRATe SoCIAl InveSTMenT (“CSI”)
Hyprop’s commitment to advance the lives of local communities 
through socio-economic development and empowerment 
programmes was again reflected in the efforts of the individual 
shopping centres. A variety of different charities and fundraising 
opportunities were supported by each centre during the year: 

Canal Walk
Established in 2005, the Canal Walk Foundation has continued to 
direct a formalised and well-developed CSI programme. During the 
year R362 000 was spent on CSI initiatives. The Foundation focuses 
largely on organisations which will contribute to socio-economic 
development and empowerment in areas such as education, health, 
sport, job creation and art development. 

The centre supported several sports-related causes during  
the year. The Canal Walk Foundation also raised funds by  
hosting various soccer initiatives during the time of the FIFA Soccer 
World Cup 2010. The Foundation further hosted a Golf Day 
in conjunction with well-known South African business and 
sport figures, which raised R95 000. 

As per Canal Walk’s Health and Safety Handbook, a documented 
Emergency Evacuation procedure is in place. Further risk and 
safety policies and procedures including hot work permits, 
evacuation and lock down are reviewed on a continuous basis. 

More than 220 closed-circuit television cameras (CCTV) are 
strategically positioned throughout the centre as well as at boom 
gates and restricted areas. A central control room monitors  
and controls these cameras, the tenant panic button and door 
alarm systems.

The Glen
Independent Health and Safety consultants, Scott Safe, continued to 
conduct quarterly audits of the centre. The Occupational Health and 
Safety Hazard/Risk Inspection assessed compliance with general 
duties as they relate to management’s responsibilities at The Glen. 
The report concluded that the centre achieved a commendable 98% 
compliance with the Occupational Health and Safety Act. Only 
minor risk areas have been identified in the report and the centre 
has put in place corrective measures to address these.  

Hyde Park
Hyde Park’s health and safety manager is responsible for enforcing 
compliance with the centre’s Health and Safety Policy and briefing 
all contractors before commencing work. The policy provides for 
the protection of all employees and tenants against hazards 
associated with the centre’s activities. 

Additional security improvements during the year include the new 
security and parking office erected on the fourth floor parking level. 
Installation of roller shutter gates at all entrances, including the 
entrances to the various parking decks, ensure restriction of after-
hours access to the centre. In addition, all fire and smoke detection 
systems were refurbished. During the year a health and safety audit 
was performed by independent consultancy Scott Safe. 

The Mall
The management team has the responsibility to ensure health and 
safety policies are applied. In this regard, all security and cleaning 
personnel received training during 2010. The formal Health and 
Safety Policy is currently under review and the updated document 
will be disseminated to all employees, tenants and contractors. In 
compliance with the policy, regular evacuation drills are conducted, 
escalators and lifts are inspected monthly and a full audit is carried 
out by independent consultancy SFT on a quarterly basis.

Stoneridge 
Stoneridge has a dedicated health and safety manager with the 
responsibility of ensuring that all tenants and employees adhere to 

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT (CONTINUED)
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Hyde Park
It is Hyde Park’s CSI policy to support a maximum of four charities 
in its immediate environment on an ongoing basis, to prevent 
widespread beneficiaries diluting support and therefore benefit. 
During the year the centre identified Green Peace, Rotary Club of 
Rosebank and johannesburg Child Welfare. A total spend of 
R35 000 was directed towards CSI initiatives. 

Hyde Park raised R90 000 for the Child and Family unit of 
johannesburg Child Welfare through events such as a Home 
Channel Décor & Design morning and the 100 Doors Project 
exhibition. 

A total of R120 000 was raised for the Rotary Club of Rosebank 
by hosting the annual Festival of Art Exhibition. The donation has 
been used to support an orphan, enable several learners to attend 
school, provide courses on topics such as Youth Leadership 
Training and Dependable Strengths as well as to provide nurses 
with overseas training in a specialised field. 

Green Peace raised R60 000 by utilising promotional court space 
in the centre for six fund raising events throughout the year. 

The Mall
As per The Mall’s CSI policy, beneficiaries are identified within its 
immediate community. The centre once again hosted its annual 
“Angels in Blue Campaign” to raise money in aid of the SAPS 
Widows and Orphans Fund.  

Arts and culture were supported by Canal Walk in various ways. 
The Canal Walk Foundation donated R26 000 to the Cape Craft 
and Design Institute working for the advancement of art in the 
Western Cape. Further, a dancer from the jikeleza dance project 
received assistance with school fees, text books, uniforms and 
living costs for a year. 

The Canal Walk Back to School ‘Give Back’ campaign ensured 
that learners from three schools in the area received school 
uniforms and accessories. The Foundation, with the assistance of 
S.M.I.L.E, hosted an English learning skills programme for 
educators and learners in three informal settlements in the area. 

The Foundation also hosted community-focused events which 
included the Blanket Drive, donating R50 000 to the St joseph’s 
Home for chronically ill children and R15 000 towards running 
the bus for the Bel Porto school for disabled children. 

The Glen
During the year The Glen continued to support the Thusanani 
Children’s Foundation by funding four occupational therapists for 
HIV/AIDS orphans from disadvantaged areas across Gauteng (in 
conjunction with the University of Witwatersrand School of 
Occupational Therapy). The Foundation assists children in 
orphanages who are developmentally challenged as a result of 
inadequate stimulation. 

‘The Glen Cares Campaign’ continued to support various community 
policing fora in the surrounding areas during the year.



HYPROP     ANNUAL REPORT 2010

38

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT (CONTINUED)

HIv/AIdS

Hyprop is aware of the potentially devastating effects of HIV/

AIDS on its employees and the community at large. A formal 

policy in this regard provides guidelines on creating a non-

discriminatory workplace for all, dealing with HIV testing, 

confidentiality and disclosure, providing equitable employee 

benefits, dealing with dismissal and managing grievance 

procedures. The policy assures each affected employee’s right to 

confidentiality. Where employees willingly disclose their status 

the company encourages openness, acceptance and support. 

The policy further makes provision for creating a safe working 

environment and developing procedures to manage occupational 

incidences and compensation claims. 

Investor and stakeholder relations

Hyprop’s Code of Ethics and Conduct sets out timeous, consistent 

and accurate communications with investors and stakeholders as 

an important operational principle.

In line with jSE Rules and Regulations the company publishes all 

announcements on SENS. Financial results announcements are 

also posted on the company website and published in the business 

press as well as sent to investors. The executive directors are 

available to answer queries from stakeholders at all times and 

meet regularly with industry analysts. Wherever possible the 

executive directors also engage with the financial press to ensure 

accurate reporting.

Hyprop further communicates with stakeholders through its membership 

of the following industry associations and organisations:

•   Property Loan Stock Association (PLSA);

•   South African Council of Shopping Centres (SACSC); and

•   South African Property Owners Association (SAPOA).

In addition, unitholders are actively encouraged to attend the 

company’s annual general meetings to foster ongoing personal 

interaction with management.

Hyprop communicates with employees via e-mail while tenants 

receive notices.  

THe Code oF eTHICS And ConduCT (“THe Code”) 
The Code’s primary purpose is to promote the exemplary conduct 

of all employees and other representatives of Hyprop that will 

allow the company “to create the most desirable shopping 

destinations in South Africa which constantly deliver exceptional 

The Mall also continued to provide a permanent clothing and 

monetary donation collection box for the Rosebank Homeless 

Association. The centre further provided promotional space to 

CANSA, justice and Peace Rosebank, Doctors without Borders, 

Green Peace and the Rosebank Homeless Association.

Stoneridge 

As the latest addition to Hyprop’s portfolio, Stoneridge adheres to 

the company’s aim to support and empower communities in its 

immediate vicinity. Several charities benefited from CSI initiatives 

during the year. 

A winter warmer collection box was placed in the centre, which 

was donated to the Edenvale Rotary. Charity Angels was again 

supported in the form of complementary space for marketing 

events, complementary Greenpeace exhibits as well as the annual 

CANSA Shavathon.

Southcoast Mall

Southcoast Mall’s CSI strategy is to be actively involved in projects 

supporting the needs of the community in the South Coast region. 

During 2010 a host of charities were supported in the form of 

donations or assistance. The centre donated gift cards to Master 

Maths, an organisation which assists learners in improving Maths 

skills. Once again, Southcoast Mall hosted and donated to the 

annual CANSA Shavathon, the SPCA gift-wrapping service, the 

Hospice Tree of Light, the Round Table’s Winter Warmer campaign 

and the Grannies and Grandpas Annual Walk. 

When management’s computers were replaced with newer models 

during the year, the older – but still workable – computers were 

donated to charities in the centre’s immediate community. Tenants 

such as Game and Checkers, and staff donated trolley-loads of 

clothing and food items to residents in nearby rural communities. 

In addition the centre provided free space to the Siyavuna 

Development Centre to sell vegetables and home-grown produce 

at the monthly Food Market. The centre sponsored a golf tee at 

the Wimpy charity golf day where proceeds went to the 

Association for the Physically Challenged as well as a local 

church holiday club.

In 2011 the centre intends adopting a crèche in an informal 

settlement in Port Shepstone’s Boboyi area, which is severely 

affected by HIV/AIDS. Six abandoned babies at the Filadelfia 

Umephi Baby Home have been identified to be clothed and fed by 

donations from Southcoast Mall. 
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and memorable shopping experiences to customers”. This is 

intended to be achieved through:
•  service excellence;
•  striving for international best practice; 
•  effective delegation;
•  promoting leadership; and 
•  utilising best technology and building principles.

The Code sets out the company’s commitment to the highest level 
of ethical conduct, fair dealing and integrity in business practice 
as an operational imperative.

It encapsulates Hyprop’s commitment to best-practice corporate 
governance, including timeous, valuable and transparent 
communication with all stakeholders. In addition, the Code 
contains guidelines on confidentiality, fair and ethical market 
competition and sound environmental practices, addressing all 
aspects of responsible corporate governance.

In summary Hyprop endeavours to:
•   promote a policy of zero-tolerance for any form of corruption, 

unethical business practices and/or behaviour that contravenes 
any law, regulation or the mores of society;

•   avoid  any  conflicts  of  interest  that  may  unduly  influence  or 
compromise any employee’s ability to act in the company’s best 
interest;

•   ensure  independence  from any business organisation or  third 
parties with contractual relationships with Hyprop;

•   refuse  gifts,  hospitality  or  other  favours  from  third  parties  in 
return for any kind of favour, service or treatment;

•   conduct  its  business  with  integrity,  mutual  respect  and 
professionalism to enhance the company’s reputation;

•   steer away from direct and indirect discriminatory practices;
•   implement  legitimate  dealings  in  Hyprop’s  combined  units  in 

compliance with the Insider Trading Act and jSE Rules and 
Regulations;

•   implement best-practice corporate governance;
•   protect confidentiality of information;
•   uphold  fair  and  ethical  competition  in  the  marketplace  in 

accordance with the relevant competition laws;
•   support the process of sustainable and real transformation;
•   safeguard the company’s assets for legitimate purposes only;
•   implement an effective system of controls in order to meet the 

company’s strategic objectives; and
•   subscribe to sound health, safety and environmental practices.  
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exeCuTIve dIReCToRS 
Pieter (PG) Prinsloo (45)
BSc (QS) 
CEO 

Pieter is a quantity surveyor who has been engaged in every aspect 
of property development, management and finance for over 20 years 
having worked at Sanlam Properties, Standard Bank Properties and 
ABSA Commercial Property Finance. He held the position of CEO of 
Hyprop for seven years until 2009, when he moved to the private 
property sector and joined New Africa Developments as CEO. New 
Africa Developments’ focus is shopping centre developments.  
He was re-appointed to the position of CEO of Hyprop with effect 
from 1 May 2011. 

Laurence (LR) Cohen (38)  
BCom CA(SA)
Financial Director

Laurence joined Hyprop in 2003 as Financial Director of Hyprop 
Manco, having spent three years working in Grant Thornton’s corporate 
finance division. He was appointed to the board in 2006 and has been 
involved extensively in various aspects of the business since joining the 
company. He also serves as a non-executive director of VPIF. 

IndePendenT non-exeCuTIve dIReCToRS
Michael (MS) Aitken (54) 
BA LLB
Chairman

Michael has over 20 years’ experience in property-related activity 
with specific expertise in asset management and investment relating 
to both directly held and listed property vehicles. He is currently 
managing director of Corovest Property Group Limited and a non-
executive director of Strategic Real Estate Managers, the asset 
managers for Emira Property Fund Limited.

Lindie (L) Engelbrecht (36)
CA(SA)

Lindie is a Chartered Accountant and until recently was a director at 
Ernst & Young in Climate Change & Sustainability Services. She is a 
member of the King Committee on Corporate Governance and was 
previously a director at KPMG and Chief Executive of the Institute of 
Directors. Lindie has advised, consulted and presented to boards 
and audit committees in the public and private sectors and to tertiary 
institutions on corporate, legal and governance matters.

Roy (JR) McAlpine (70) 
BSc CA 

Roy has over 30 years’ experience in South African investment 
markets as well as having been an executive director of the Liberty 
Group for 16 years. He is currently also a non-executive director of 
Imperial Holdings Limited and African Rainbow Minerals Limited.

Les (LI) Weil (66)
BCom CA(SA) MBA 

Les has more than 40 years’ experience in real estate, prior to which 
he spent several years in merchant banking and commerce. He was 
chairman of jHI Properties for 28 years until September 2010. He is 
also a member of the King Committee on Corporate Governance.

non-exeCuTIve dIReCToRS

Ethan (EG) Dube (51) 
MSc (Statistics) Executive MBA (Sweden) 

Ethan has gained significant corporate finance and asset management 
experience over the years. He worked for Southern Asset Managers 
for three years as a Senior Analyst and for Standard Chartered and 
Merchant Bank for two years in the Corporate Finance department. 
In 1996 Ethan founded Infinity Asset Management with three other 
partners and in 1998 founded Vunani Limited, a financial services 
company, where he is currently CEO.

Kevin (KM) Ellerine (42)  
National Diploma in Company Administration 

Kevin joined the family business, Ellerine Holdings, in january 1991 
as merchandise manager. In 1993 he became property manager of 
Ellerine Bros. (Proprietary) Limited, and was appointed managing 
director of the Property Division in 2000, a position he still holds 
today. He sits on the boards of all the property and private equity 
companies in which Ellerine Bros. is invested.

Mike (MJ) Lewin (56) 
BCom BAgric Management

Mike Lewin has over 20 years’ experience in the property industry 
and heads the group retail division of Redefine. He was previously 
with Edgars Consolidated Stores Limited for 18 years, where he 
served as their property development executive.            

David (DH) Rice (54)
David has more than 20 years’ experience in the property industry. 
He was managing director of ApexHi Properties Limited from 2006 
until the merger of ApexHi, Redefine and Madison Property Fund 
Managers Holdings Limited in july 2009. At that time he was 
appointed as the director responsible for all aspects of the operations 
of the Redefine portfolio, including asset and property management.

Stewart (S) Shaw-Taylor (57)
CA(SA) Harvard PMD 

Stewart has more than 30 years’ experience in investment banking 
and real estate. He is currently the Global Head of the Standard 
Bank Property Group as well as the Head of Group Real  
Estate Services. He is responsible for the real estate debt, equity and 
asset management related activities undertaken by the Standard 
Bank Group.

Marc (M) Wainer (62) 
Marc has been involved in all aspects of the real estate industry for 
over 35 years. He is CEO of Redefine and serves on the boards of 
Redefine International (plc) and The Cromwell Group (Aus).
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exeCuTIve MAnAGeMenT
Nicole Greenstone (42)
BA (Hons) H Dip Ed Nat Dip Real Estate (Valuations) 

Group Asset Manager 

Nicole has 19 years’ experience in property management and has 

been in her current position since October 2003.

Riegardt Marais (39)
National Diploma Public Relations

Marketing Executive

Riegardt has over 15 years’ shopping centre marketing experience 

including with Primedia Lifestyle in South Africa as well as shopping 

centres in the Middle East. His portfolio in South Africa has included 

Fourways Mall, Hatfield Square, Village Walk, Randburg Square and 

jabulani Mall as well as Airports Company South Africa (johannesburg, 

Cape Town and Durban airports). He joined Hyprop in March 2010.

Steven Riley (41)
BA (Architecture) PDP

Development Executive

Steven has over 15 years’ experience in the property industry ranging 

from retail property development and property management to project 

architecture including the design and development of the retail areas 

at OR Tambo’s Central Terminal Building. Prior to that he was with Old 

Mutual Properties as Assistant Centre Manager at Gateway Theatre of 

Shopping and Design Project Manager for Menlyn Park Shopping 

Centre and Gateway. He joined Hyprop in january 2010.

GeneRAl MAnAGeRS
Wayne Abegglen (44)
National Higher Diploma (HR)

CEO Canal Walk 

Wayne has over 15 years’ experience in property management and 

joined Canal Walk in 2003. He has been involved in the successful 

repositioning of Canal Walk as a foremost shopping destination, while 

also enhancing the tenant mix of the centre. Wayne holds an Advanced 

Certificate in Shopping Centre Management.

Roy Licht (64)
BCom Registered Valuer

General Manager The Glen

Roy has over 40 years’ experience in the property and construction 

industries and has been in his current position for 12 years. He was 

previously part of the original team that developed the first Pick n Pay 

Hypermarket and was also involved in the development of the Sandton 

Hilton International Hotel.

Jacqui McGeehan (43) 
Diploma in Public Relations 

General Manager Hyde Park

jacqui has been in the property management industry for 22 years. 

She has experience in the management of both retail and commercial 

portfolios and has been involved in the refurbishment and expansion of 

four retail projects. jacqui further holds an Advanced Certificate in 

Shopping Centre Leadership.

Leila Daya (40)
Diploma in Public Relations and Marketing 

General Manager The Mall, The Mall Offices, The Grace and 

Cradock Heights 

Leila has over 18 years’ experience in the property industry. She holds 

a Certificate in Shopping Centre Management and an Advanced  

Certificate in Shopping Centre Leadership. Leila joined The Mall  

in july 2005.

Glen Maboe (34)
National Diploma (HR)

General Manager Stoneridge

Glen has been responsible for Stoneridge since inception in 

September 2008. His career in property management started with 

airport retail. Glen has successfully completed a Certificate in 

Shopping Centre Leadership and an Advanced Certificate in 

Shopping Centre Leadership.

Tracy Kohler (42)
General Manager Southcoast Mall

Tracy previously worked in strategic operations in the retail and 

corporate sectors and joined Southcoast Mall in October 2006.  

Her expertise in training, management, marketing, branding and 

financial operations formerly led her to receive the ‘Achiever of the 

Year’ award.
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Property description Location
GLA
(m2)

Cost
(Hyprop share)

(R000)

Fair value
(Hyprop share)

(R000)

Date of 
acquisition/
development

Shopping Centres

80% undivided share in Century City,

Canal Walk* Cape Town  150,394  1,221,420  4,556,000 Oct 2003

75,15% undivided share in The Glen Oakdene, jhb  74,583  636,774  1,535,433 #

Hyde Park* Hyde Park, jhb  36,894  302,593  1,277,000 Pre-listing 1988

The Mall Rosebank, jhb  37,009  366,949  918,000 jan 2003

90% undivided share in Stoneridge
Greenstone Park, 
Modderfontein  50,241  531,309  407,700 Sep 2008

50% undivided share in Southcoast Mall Shelly Beach  29,361  116,986  129,500 Nov 2005

Total – shopping centres  378,482  3,176,031  8,823,633 

offices

The Mall Offices Rosebank, jhb  17,713 
 Included with

 The Mall  256,000 jan 2003

Cradock Heights Rosebank, jhb  4,508  67,709  75,000 jun 2009

Total – offices  22,221  67,709  331,000 

Hotels

Southern Sun Hyde Park Hyde Park, jhb  132 rooms  178,218  180,000 Sep 2009

The Grace Rosebank, jhb  7,493  33,575  91,000 May 2003

Total – hotels  7,493  211,793  271,000 

Total – portfolio  408,196  3,455,533  9,425,633 

* Includes office component
# The 75,15% undivided share in The Glen was acquired on the following dates:
 – 33,33% in December 2001
 – 16,77% in September 2002
 – 25,05% in October 2004

Retail

INVESTMENT PROPERTY PORTFOLIO
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canal walk



HYPROP     ANNUAL REPORT 2010

46

 Approval of the annual financial statements 47
 Declaration by company secretary  47
 Report of the independent auditors 48
 Audit Committee report 49
 Directors’ report 50

52 Statement of financial position
53 Statement of comprehensive income
54 Statement of changes in equity
55 Statement of cash flows
56 Notes to the annual financial statements
83 Segmental analysis

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



47

The external auditors are responsible for independently auditing 
and reporting on these annual financial statements in conformity 
with International Standards on Auditing. Their report is set out on 
page 48 of the annual report.

The annual financial statements were approved by the board and 
were signed on its behalf by:

 

Michael Aitken  Laurence Cohen
Chairman  Financial Director

Johannesburg

1 March 2011

Approval of the annual financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2010

The annual financial statements set out on pages 50 to 84 are the 
responsibility of the directors. They are responsible for selecting 
and adopting sound accounting practices, for maintaining an 
adequate and effective system of accounting records, for 
safeguarding assets and for developing and maintaining a system 
of internal control that, among other things, will ensure the 
preparation of annual financial statements achieves fair presentation. 
The annual financial statements set out in this annual report have 
been prepared by the directors in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards. They are based on appropriate 
accounting policies which have been consistently applied, unless 
otherwise indicated, and which are supported by reasonable and 
prudent judgements and estimates.

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the going 
concern basis since the directors have every reason to believe that 
the company has adequate resources in place to continue 
operations for the foreseeable future.

Declaration by company secretary

We declare that, to the best of our knowledge, the company has lodged with the Registrar of Companies all such returns as are  
required of a public company in terms of the South African Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as amended, and that all such returns are true, 
correct and up-to-date.

Probity Business Services (Proprietary) Limited
Company Secretary

Johannesburg
1 March 2011
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Report of the independent auditors
for the year ended 31 December 2010

To the members of Hyprop Investments Limited
We have audited the annual financial statements of Hyprop 
Investments Limited, which comprise the statement of financial 
position as at 31 December 2010, and the statements of 
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the 
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory notes, and the directors’ report, as set out 
on pages 50 to 84.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements
The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and 
fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
the International Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner 
required by the Companies Act of South Africa. This responsibility 
includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting 
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in 
the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements 
are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 

in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of Hyprop Investments Limited as at 
31 December 2010, and its financial performance and its cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards, and in the manner required by the 
Companies Act of South Africa.

Grant Thornton
Chartered Accountants (SA)
Registered Auditors

per EFG DREYER
Chartered Accountant (SA)
Registered Auditor

1 March 2011

Grant Thornton Office Park
137 Daisy Street
Sandown
2196
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The information below constitutes the report of the Audit 
Committee in respect of the year under review, as required by 
section 270A of the Corporate Laws Amendment Act. 

The Audit Committee comprises independent non-executive 
directors Les Weil (committee chairman) and Roy McAlpine and 
non-executive director Stewart Shaw-Taylor. Effective 1 March 
2011, independent non-executive director Lindie Engelbrecht was 
appointed to the Audit Committee. A short curriculum vitae for 
each of these directors has been set out on pages 40 to 41 of the 
annual report demonstrating their relevant skills and experience.  

The committee meets three times per year. Attendance of directors 
is set out on page 24. Special meetings are convened as required. 
The external auditors and executive management are invited to 
attend every meeting. 

A formal Audit Committee Charter codifies the committee’s role 
and responsibilities which include the responsibility to review 
accounting, auditing and financial reporting matters. The committee 
ensures an effective control environment is maintained by assessing 
adherence to the Charter. It further assesses adherence to the 
company’s systems of controls and, where necessary, recommends 
and monitors improvements during the year. The Charter is 
currently being reviewed and updated in line with King III Report 
requirements and the new Companies Act.

Responsibility for the monitoring of any proposed changes  
in accounting policies lies with the Audit Committee. It 
further advises the board on any accounting implications of any 
major transactions. 

The committee is also responsible for reviewing the internal audit 

function and recommending the appointment of external auditors 

for approval by unitholders. In addition, it establishes guidelines 

for recommending the use of external auditors for non-audit 

services to ensure independence.

The external auditors provide a report to the Audit Committee 

motivating their independence. The committee considered the 

independence of the external auditors, Grant Thornton, in 

accordance with section 270A of the Corporate Laws Amendment 

Act, and was of the view that the external auditors were 

independent of the company.

The committee further considered and was satisfied with the 

expertise and experience of the company’s Financial Director, 

Laurence Cohen. 

The committee has reviewed and recommended for approval to 

the board the entire integrated report, including the annual 

financial statements.

Les Weil
Audit Committee Chairman

1 March 2011

Audit Committee report
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No non-beneficial combined units were held by any of the 
directors. There have been no changes in the directors’ interests 
between year-end and the date of this report.

Directorate
Wolf Cesman resigned from the board with effect from 31 May 
2010 and Khosi Sibisi resigned effective 1 December 2010. 
Effective 3 December 2010, Mike Lewin and David Rice were 
appointed as non-executive directors, while Lindie Engelbrecht was 
appointed as an independent non-executive director with effect 
from 14 January 2011. CEO Mike Rodel resigned from the board 
on 3 March 2011. Pieter Prinsloo was appointed to the board as 
CEO effective 1 May 2011.

M Wainer, JR McAlpine and LI Weil, in accordance with the 
company’s articles of association, retire by rotation at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, will offer 
themselves for re-election.

An abridged curriculum vitae for each of the directors is set out on 
pages 40 and 41.

Company secretary
The company secretary is Probity Business Services (Proprietary)
Limited. The business and postal addresses of the company 
secretary are set out on the inside back cover.

Audit Committee report
The committee has fulfilled its responsibilities during the year (refer 
to the report on page 49 for details in this regard). Further the 
committee has satisfied itself as to the independence of the external 
auditors and their suitability for reappointment for the ensuing year.

Nature of business
Hyprop is a professionally managed property loan stock company 
listed on the JSE. The company specialises in prime quality 
shopping centres including Canal Walk, The Glen, Hyde Park, The 
Mall, Stoneridge and Southcoast Mall. Hyprop provides investors 
with the opportunity to hold combined units in quality retail real 
estate and distributes all its income on a semi-annual basis. The 
company further continues to grow the portfolio through acquisitions 
and developments as and when appropriate opportunities arise.

Review of activities
The results of the company are commented on in the Chairman’s 
Report and Portfolio Review and are set out in the annual financial 
statements on pages 50 to 84.

Capital structure
All combined units comprise one ordinary share and one 
debenture and may only be traded on the JSE. The terms and 
conditions governing the debentures are contained in the Hyprop 
Debenture Trust Deed.

No new combined units were issued during the year.

Full particulars regarding the authorised and issued share capital 
at 31 December 2010 are set out in note 10 to the annual 
financial statements, and full particulars regarding the debentures 
are set out in note 12.

Directors’ interests
The only interests of the directors in the combined units of the 
company at 31 December 2010 were as follows:

Directors’ report
for the year ended 31 December 2010

 2010  
 Beneficial

 2009  
 Beneficial

Direct Indirect Direct Indirect

Executive directors
PG Prinsloo~ 293 737 293 737

LR Cohen 124 109 124 109

Non-executive directors
MS Aitken 15 000 15 000

WE Cesmanˆ̂ 481 341*

S Shaw-Taylor 8 479 8 479

LI Weil 1 953 1 953

M Wainer 528 758* 466 809*

DH Rice# 1 694*

Total 25 432 948 298 25 432 1 365 996
~ Appointed 1 May 2011
ˆ Resigned 31 May 2010 
# Appointed 3 December 2010
* Held via Redefine’s 45,7% interest in Hyprop
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Co-owned shopping centres
The results of The Glen, Canal Walk, Southcoast Mall and Stoneridge, 

in which the group owns majority undivided shares of 75,15%, 

80%, 50% and 90% respectively, have been proportionately 

consolidated in the annual financial statements.

Special resolution
A special resolution granting general authority for the repurchase 

of combined units in the company was passed by unitholders at 

the last Annual General Meeting and was registered by the 

Registrar of Companies on 5 July 2010.

Johannesburg

1 March 2011

Auditors
Grant Thornton will continue in office in accordance with the 

Companies Act, 71 of 2008, subject to the approval of the 

combined unitholders at the upcoming annual general meeting.

Directors’ interests in contracts
No material contracts in which the directors have an interest were 

entered into during the year, other than the transactions detailed 

in note 29 to the annual financial statements.

Going concern
The directors consider that the company has adequate resources 

to continue operating for the foreseeable future and that it is 

appropriate to adopt the going-concern basis in preparing the 

company’s financial statements. The directors have satisfied 

themselves that the company is in a sound financial position and 

that it has access to sufficient borrowing facilities to meet its 

foreseeable cash requirements.

Administration and management
Effective 1 January 2010, Hyprop engaged Redefine to perform 

certain consulting services for Hyprop in terms of a consultancy 

agreement which was subsequently terminated on 31 August 

2010. Property management and asset management are now 

fully internalised.

The following fees were paid during the year:

2010 2009

R000 R000

Asset management:

Madison 39 894

Property management:

Madison 8 873

Canal Walk Manco 3 879

Lease commission:

Madison 1 322 2 090

Canal Walk Manco 708 3 930

JHI Real Estate Limited 1 692 1 450

Consulting fees:

Redefine 12 000
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2010 2009

Note R000 R000

Assets

Non-current assets  11 303 054  10 550 405 

Investment property 2  9 224 395  8 601 731 

Development property 2  73 674  87 743 

Straight-line rental income accrual 2  183 385  169 237 

Building appurtenances and tenant installations 3  21 237  20 993 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 4  1 529 268  1 453 838 

Investment in associate 5  210 055  169 499 

Loan receivable 7  47 813  47 364 

Derivative instruments 14  13 227 

Current assets  154 331  258 153 

Receivables 8  86 584  80 591 

Cash and cash equivalents 9  67 747  177 562 

Total assets  11 457 385  10 808 558 

Equity and liabilities

Equity capital and reserves  5 402 195  4 799 207 

Share capital 10  1 661  1 661 

Retained income  14 668  14 946 

Non-distributable reserves 11  5 385 866  4 782 600 

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities  5 578 633  5 594 236 

Debentures and debenture premium 12  2 447 895  2 558 705 

Long-term loans 13  1 490 000  1 550 000 

Derivative instruments 14  21 111  12 447 

Financial guarantee for associate 5  953 

Deferred taxation 15  1 619 627  1 472 131 

Current liabilities  476 557  415 115 

Payables 16  172 570  134 691 

Derivative instruments 14  3 015 

Combined unitholders for distribution  303 987  277 409 

Total liabilities  6 055 190  6 009 350 

Total equity and liabilities  11 457 385  10 808 558 

Net asset value per combined unit (R)  47,26  44,29 

Net asset value per combined unit 

– excluding deferred taxation liability (R)  57,01  53,16 
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Statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2010

2010 2009

Note R000 R000

Revenue  1 119 048  923 655 

Investment property income  984 910  790 568 

Straight-line rental income accrual  14 148  13 318 

Listed property securities income  119 990  119 769 

Property expenses  (371 932)  (259 380)

Net property income  747 116  664 275 

Other operating expenses  (36 044)  (47 840)

Operating income  711 072  616 435 

Net interest  (121 554)  (70 829)

Received 17  7 006  26 931 

Paid 18  (128 560)  (97 760)

Net operating income 19  589 518  545 606 

Non-core income  905  905 

Change in fair value  586 121  583 733 

Investment property  517 262  580 121 

Straight-line rental income accrual  (14 148)  (13 318)

Listed property securities  75 430  32 391 

Derivative instruments  14  7 577  (15 461)

Amortisation of debenture premium  110 810  97 696 

Amortisation of financial guarantee for associate  953  715 

Income before debenture interest and taxation  1 288 307  1 228 655 

Debenture interest  (593 024)  (544 851)

Net income before share of income from associate  695 283  683 804 

Share of income from associate 5  55 201  20 305 

Investment property income  15 518  11 566 

Straight-line rental income accrual  320  386 

Change in fair value of investment property  39 363  8 353 

Net income before taxation  750 484  704 109 

Taxation 23  (147 496)  (152 084)

Total comprehensive income for the year  602 988  552 025 

Basic and diluted earnings per combined unit (cents) 24  720,0  660,3 

Distributable earnings per combined unit (cents) 24  356,9  327,9 
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Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2010

Share
capital
R000

Non-
distributable

reserve
R000

Retained
income

R000
Total

R000

Balance at 31 December 2008  1 661  4 231 199  14 322  4 247 182 

Total comprehensive income for the year  552 025  552 025 

Net transfer to non-distributable reserve  551 401  (551 401)

Balance at 31 December 2009  1 661  4 782 600  14 946  4 799 207 

Total comprehensive income for the year  602 988  602 988 

Net transfer to non-distributable reserve  603 266  (603 266)

Balance at 31 December 2010  1 661  5 385 866  14 668  5 402 195 
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Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2010

2010 2009

Note R000 R000

Cash flows from operating activities  62 608  53 089 

Cash generated from operations 25.2  735 963  624 030 

Interest received  7 006  26 931 

Interest paid  (128 560)  (97 760)

Income from associate  14 645  29 789 

Distribution to Hyprop combined unitholders 25.3  (566 446)  (529 901)

Cash flows from investing activities  (112 423)  (591 617)

Acquisition of and additions to investment property  (111 974)  (589 485)

Loan advanced  (449)  (2 132)

Cash flows from financing activities  (60 000)  650 000 

(Decrease)/increase in long-term loans  (60 000)  650 000 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (109 815)  111 472 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  177 562  66 090 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 9  67 747  177 562 
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 1.3 Associates
An associate is an enterprise over which the company is 
in a position to exercise significant influence, through 
participation in the financial and operating policy decisions 
of the investee, but does not have control nor joint control 
over these policies.

The investment is initially recorded at cost and the carrying 
amount is adjusted to recognise the investor’s share of the 
post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee after the 
date of acquisition, as well as distributions received and 
any adjustments that are required. Such amounts are 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are 
incorporated in the financial statements using the equity 
method of accounting.

 1.4 Investment property
Investment property is initially recognised at cost including 
transaction costs. Cost includes initial costs as well as  
costs incurred subsequently to extend or refurbish 
investment property.

Investment property is subsequently measured at fair 
value. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value 
are included in net profit or loss for the period in which 
they arise. These gains or losses are transferred to  
non-distributable reserves in the Statement of Changes  
in Equity.

Realised gains or losses arising on the disposal of 
investment properties are recognised in net profit or loss 
for the year and transferred to non-distributable reserves in 
the Statement of Changes in Equity.

 1.5 Property under development
Property under development is recorded at fair value. 

 1.6  Building appurtenances and tenant 
installations

Building appurtenances and tenant installations are carried 
at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. Depreciation is provided on all building 
appurtenances and tenant installations to write down the 
cost, less residual value, by equal instalments over their 
useful lives as follows:
•  tenant installations – period of lease; and
• building appurtenances – three to seven years.

1.  Accounting policies and presentation of financial 
statements
The annual financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), the AC 500 standards, the South African 
Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as amended and the JSE 
Listings Requirements.

The financial statements have been prepared on the 
historical cost basis, except for the measurement of 
investment properties and certain financial instruments 
which have been disclosed at fair value and incorporate 
the principal accounting policies set out below.

These accounting policies are consistent with those 
applied in the previous year.

Various new accounting standards, or revisions to current 
accounting standards, have been issued with effective 
dates applicable to future financial statements of the 
company. The only standards not yet adopted that could 
be expected to be applicable to the company are those 
requiring additional disclosure.

Refer to note 33 for further information.

 1.1 Basis of consolidation
In terms of the co-ownership agreements for Canal Walk, 
The Glen and Stoneridge, material capital expenditure 
requires mutual consent of the co-owners. In view of  
the significant increases in development costs, most of  
the capital expenditure now being undertaken is material 
and accordingly these centres are not considered to be 
solely controlled by Hyprop. The interest in these centres 
has therefore been proportionately consolidated and 
reflect Hyprop’s share of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenditure. 

 1.2 Joint ventures
The investment in a joint venture is accounted for using the 
proportionate consolidation method, except when the 
asset is classified as held-for-sale. Under the proportionate 
consolidation method the attributable share of each of the 
assets, liabilities, income, expenses and cash flows of such 
investments is combined line by line with similar items in 
the financial statements. The use of proportionate 
consolidation is discontinued from the date on which the 
company ceases to have joint control over the entity.

Notes to the annual financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2010



57

 1.7.2.6 Derivative instruments
Derivative instruments are adjusted to fair value at each 

reporting date and have been designated by the company 

as instruments accounted for at fair value through profit 

and loss. Gains or losses are transferred to non-distributable 

reserves in the Statement of Changes in Equity.

 1.7.2.7 Debentures
Debentures are designated as financial liabilities measured 

at amortised cost. The debenture premium is amortised 

over the period in which the debentures will be repaid. 

The portion recorded in profit and loss for the amortisation 

of debentures is added back for distribution purposes. 

 1.8 Revenue
Revenue includes rental income and operating expense 

recoveries from investment properties and interest received 

from listed property securities. 

•  Rental income is recognised as income on a straight-line 

basis over the lease term; 

•  Turnover rental is recognised in revenue when the 

amounts can be reliably measured; 

•  Interest received from listed property securities is 

recognised on an accrual basis; and 

•  Other interest income is recognised as it accrues, using 

the effective interest rate method.

 1.9 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition or construction of a qualifying asset are 

capitalised as part of the cost of that asset until such time 

as the asset is substantially ready for its intended use.

The amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation 

is the actual borrowing costs incurred on funds specifically 

borrowed in respect of the qualifying asset. Investment 

income earned on the temporary investment of borrowings 

pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is 

deducted from the borrowing cost capitalised. 

Capitalisation ceases when substantially all the activities 

necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended 

use are complete.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense 

in the period in which they are incurred.

 1.7 Financial instruments
 1.7.1 Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in 

the Statement of Financial Position when the company 

becomes party to the contractual provisions of the 

instrument.

The company classifies financial instruments, or their 

component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, 

a financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance 

with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised initially at 

fair value through profit or loss.

 1.7.2 Subsequent measurement
 1.7.2.1 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments 

that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash 

and are subject to insignificant risk in change in value. 

Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value.

 1.7.2.2 Receivables
Trade and other receivables are carried at amortised cost 

less any accumulated impairments. Short term receivables 

are measured at original invoice amount when the effect 

of discounting is immaterial. 

 1.7.2.3 Payables
Trade and other payables are recognised at cost and 

subsequently measured at amortised cost. Short-term 

payables are measured at original invoice amount when 

the effect of discounting is immaterial.

 1.7.2.4 Long-term loans and debentures
Long-term loans and debentures are carried at amortised 

cost using the effective interest rate method.

 1.7.2.5 Listed property securities
Listed property securities are classified at fair value 

through profit or loss and are, accordingly, subsequently 

measured at fair value less the accrual for distributions 

receivable. This accrual is included in receivables. No 

deduction is made for transaction costs which may be 

incurred on sale or other disposal. Gains or losses are 

transferred to non-distributable reserves in the Statement 

of Changes in Equity.
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Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2010

 1.12 Segment reporting
On a primary basis the operations are organised into 
three major business segments – retail, office and listed 
property securities.

 1.13 Key estimations and uncertainties
Estimates and assumptions are an integral part of 
financial reporting and as such have an impact on the 
amounts reported for the company’s income, expenses, 
assets and liabilities. Judgement in these areas is based 
on historical experience and reasonable expectations 
relating to future events.

Information on the key estimations and uncertainties that 
have the most significant effect on amounts recognised are 
set out in the following notes to the financial statements:
•  Accounting policy notes – notes 1.4, 1.7, 1.10  

and 1.11

•  Investment property valuation – note 2.5

•  Valuation of financial assets held at fair value through 
profit and loss (listed property securities) – note 4

•  Impaired receivables – note 8

•  Deferred taxation – note 15

 1.10 Impairment 
Financial assets are assessed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is any evidence of impairment. A 
financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective 
evidence indicates that one or more events have had a 
negative effect on the estimated future cash flow of that 
asset. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss.

 1.11 Taxation
 1.11.1 Current liabilities

Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent 
unpaid, recognised as a liability.

Current tax liabilities for the current and prior periods are 
measured at the amount expected to be paid to the tax 
authorities, using the tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the reporting date.

 1.11.2 Deferred tax liability and asset
A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 
temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised to the 
extent that they arise from the initial recognition of an asset 
or liability in a transaction which, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither accounting nor taxable profit.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax 
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the 
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax 
rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax on the fair value adjustment of investment 
property and listed property securities has been provided 
for using a combination of the income tax and capital 
gains tax rates, based on the manner in which each asset 
is expected to be realised to the extent that there are 
insufficient tax losses to cover such charge.

 1.11.3 Tax expenses
Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or 
an expense and included in profit or loss for the period.
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2010 2009

R000 R000

2. Investment property

2.1 Net carrying value

Historical cost  3 450 522  3 345 040 

Revaluation surplus  5 847 547  5 344 434 

Development property  (73 674)  (87 743)

 9 224 395  8 601 731 

2.2 Movement for the year

Investment property at valuation 1 January  8 601 731  7 282 855 

Capital expenditure  97 360  551 923 

Change in fair value  517 262  580 121 

Interest capitalised  8 121  30 798 

Straight-line rental income accrual  (14 148)  (13 318)

Development property  (87 743)

Transfer from development property  257 095 

Change in fair value of development property  14 069 

Investment property at valuation 31 December  9 224 395  8 601 731 

2.3 Reconciliation to independent valuation

Investment property at valuation  9 224 395  8 601 731 

Straight-line rental income accrual  183 385  169 237 

Building appurtenances and tenant installations  21 237  20 993 

Centre management assets  (3 391)  (3 033)

Independent valuation  9 425 626  8 788 928 

Capitalisation rate used to determine interest capitalised 9,4% 9,4%

2.4 Investment property pledged as security
The following properties have been pledged as security by means of mortgage bonds (note 13):
To The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited to secure borrowing facilities totalling R1,24 billion.
1. A 75,15% undivided share in Erf 50 Gleneagles Extension 2 (The Glen)
2. A 40% undivided share in Erf 5958 Montague Gardens, City of Cape Town (Canal Walk)
Hyprop’s share of the market value of these properties at year-end was R3,8 billion.
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Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2010

2. Investment property (continued)

2.5 Investment property valuation

Investment property is reflected at valuation at year-end. It is the policy of the company to obtain an independent valuation
of the investment property portfolio on a six-monthly basis.

Development property is valued by management using the current market value per bulk square metre for the area and for the 
underlying property.

The portfolio was valued at R9,4 billion at 31 December 2010, excluding minority interests, by the Valuation Division of Old Mutual 
Investment Group South Africa led by the Valuation Manager Trevor King (BSc DipSurv MRICS, Valuer), Professional Valuer (SA), 
Member of the South African Institute of Valuers, Chartered Valuation Surveyor and Associate of the Royal Institution of Chartered 
Surveyors (UK), using the discounted cash flow method. The average annualised portfolio yield produced by the valuer was 7,1%. 
The average annualised yield range produced across all properties was 6,6% to 9,6%. 

2010 2009

R000 R000

3. Building appurtenances and tenant installations

3.1 Cost

Building appurtenances  50 817  39 354 

Tenant installations  33 895  30 976 

 84 712  70 330 

3.2 Accumulated depreciation

Building appurtenances  36 732  25 311 

Tenant installations  26 743  24 026 

 63 475  49 337 

3.3 Net carrying value

Building appurtenances  14 085  14 043 

Tenant installations  7 152  6 950 

 21 237  20 993 

3.4 Movement for the year

Net carrying value 1 January  20 993  21 091 

Capital expenditure  6 492  6 765 

Depreciation  (6 248)  (6 863)

Net carrying value 31 December  21 237  20 993 
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2010 2009

R000 R000

4. Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
(Listed property securities)
Non-current

75 328 391 units in Sycom (2009: 75 328 391 units)  1 529 268  1 453 838 

Hyprop held a 34,7% interest in Sycom at year-end. The investment in Sycom has been 
accounted for as an investment rather than equity accounted, since Hyprop does not 
exercise significant influence over Sycom. In particular, Hyprop does not have 
representation on the board of Sycom Property Fund Managers Limited and does not 
participate in any policy-making processes relating to Sycom.

The fair value of the Sycom units is based on the closing price of Sycom on the JSE at 
31 December 2010.

The Sycom units have been pledged as security for the Rand Merchant Bank loan 
facility (note 13).

5. Investment in associate
Vunani Property Investment Fund (Pty) Limited ("VPIF")

Cost of investment  70 995  70 995 

Financial guarantee  7 548  7 548 

Loan advanced  7 355  7 355 

Share of post-acquisition profits  124 157  83 601 

Investment property income  2 682  1 809 

Straight-line rental income accrual  4 030  3 710 

Fair value adjustment to investment property  112 660  73 297 

Profit on disposal of investment property  4 785  4 785 

Closing balance (directors’ valuation)  210 055  169 499 

VPIF is the sole beneficiary of the Vunani Property Investment Trust, in which the 
investment properties are held. At year-end, Hyprop’s interest in VPIF was 49,8%.

The following represents a summary of the financial information of VPIF at year end:

Investment property income  104 237  89 452 

Net property income 31 160  23 225 

Fair value of investment property  776 522  676 700 

Total assets  795 493  744 894 

Total debt (excludes debentures)  290 565  289 839 

Financial guarantee for associate

Initial cost  7 548  7 548 

Amortisation  (7 548)  (6 595)

Included in non-current liabilities  953 
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Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2010

2010 2009

R000 R000

6. Investment in joint ventures
The following represents a summary of Hyprop’s undivided share of its
co-owned shopping centres at year-end:

Canal Walk – 80%

Carrying value of investment property  4 556 000  4 040 000 

Current assets  43 890  44 091 

Current liabilities  51 834  47 906 

Investment property income  387 810  339 144 

Expenses  (111 348)  (94 648)

Net property income  276 462  244 496 

The Glen – 75,15%

Carrying value of investment property  1 535 433  1 439 234 

Current assets  11 944  7 683 

Current liabilities  27 133  14 149 

Investment property income  163 328  113 530 

Expenses  (60 232)  (38 101)

Net property income  103 096  75 429 

Southcoast – 50%

Carrying value of investment property  129 500  140 500 

Current assets  1 451  2 147 

Current liabilities  1 336  1 131 

Investment property income  21 600  20 520 

Expenses  (8 228)  (6 896)

Net property income  13 372  13 624 

Stoneridge – 90%

Carrying value of investment property  407 700  425 700 

Current assets  4 651  5 664 

Current liabilities  15 608  16 885 

Investment property income  49 523  47 767 

Expenses  (21 971)  (24 593)

Net property income  27 552  23 174 
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2010 2009

R000 R000

7. Loan receivable

Portion 113 Weltevreden (Proprietary) Limited, a company associated with 
Abland (Proprietary) Limited ("Abland")

 47 813  47 364 

The above loan is repayable on 23 September 2013, bears interest at a rate 
linked to the three-month JIBAR rate and is payable monthly in arrears.
The loan was advanced to Abland in 2008 to facilitate the acquisition by Abland of 
its 10% interest in Stoneridge.

8. Receivables
Rent receivable  50 051  40 882 

Allowance for doubtful debts  (15 694)  (13 913)

Sycom distribution accrued  31 536  31 605 

Other receivables  20 691  22 017 

 86 584  80 591 

Ageing of receivables past due but not impaired

30 days  7 062  5 225 

60 days  3 068  2 327 

90 days  1 413  1 140 

120+ days  7 224  5 036 

Total  18 767  13 728 

Ageing of impaired receivables

30 days  3 201  1 578 

60 days  2 399  1 408 

90 days  1 830  1 160 

120+ days  5 018  8 647 

Total  12 448  12 793 

The allowance for doubtful debts has been determined on a tenant by tenant basis
taking into account the circumstances of each tenant.

9. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise bank balances and cash  67 747  177 562 
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Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2010

2010 2009

R000 R000

10. Share capital
Authorised

200 000 000 ordinary shares of 1 cent each  2 000  2 000 

Issued

166 113 169 ordinary shares of 1 cent each  1 661  1 661 

Number of
combined 

unitholders %

Number of
combined 

units %

Combined unitholder information 

Combined unitholder spread at year-end:

Public combined unitholders  3 122 99,74  89 496 055 53,88

Non-public combined unitholders: 8 0,26 76 617 114 46,12

– Directors 

Direct beneficial 3 0,10  25 432 0,02

Indirect beneficial 3 0,10  654 561 0,39

–  Combined unitholders with an interest of 
10% or more 

2 0,06  75 937 121 45,71

Total  3 130 100,0  166 113 169 100,00

Portfolio size (combined units)

1 – 1 000  1 261 40,29  596 058 0,36

1 001 – 10 000  1 392 44,47  5 029 038 3,03

10 001 – 100 000  369 11,79  10 511 694 6,33

100 001 – 1 000 000  92 2,94  27 636 985 16,64

1 000 001 and over  16 0,51  122 339 394 73,64

Total  3 130 100,0  166 113 169 100,00

At year-end the directors were aware of the following interests of 5% or more in the combined units of the company:

Number of
combined

units

% of total
combined

units in 
issue

Redefine Properties  75 937 121 45,7%

Stanlib Asset Management  14 231 591 8,6%

Old Mutual Investment Group  10 193 315 6,1%

100 362 027 60,4%
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2010 2009

R000 R000

11. Non-distributable reserves
Realised surplus on disposal of investment properties  146 749  146 749 

Realised surplus on disposal of listed property securities  171 783  171 783 

Revaluation of investment property  4 475 620  4 095 294 

Revaluation of listed property securities  93 280  28 410 

Revaluation of derivative instruments  (7 884)  (15 462)

Amortised debenture premium  384 945  274 135 

Non-distributable reserves of associate  121 373  81 691 

 5 385 866  4 782 600 

12. Debentures and debenture premium
166 113 169 unsecured unsubordinated variable rate debentures of 493 cents each  818 938  818 938 

Premium on debentures  1 628 957  1 739 767 

Upon issue of combined units  2 013 902  2 013 902 

Debenture premium amortised  (384 945)  (274 135)

 2 447 895  2 558 705 

In terms of the Hyprop Debenture Trust Deed, interest on the debentures is calculated in accordance with a distributable income 
formula. The right of redemption may be exercised only by special resolution of the debenture holders passed within 90 days after 
25 January 2013 or every 10th anniversary thereafter.

The debentures are redeemable at their par value on the last Friday in December of the fifth year after which the debenture special 
resolution is passed. The Hyprop Debenture Trust Deed is available for inspection by combined unitholders or their duly authorised 
agents at the registered office of the company.
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2010 2009

R000 R000

13. Long-term loans

 13.1 Interest-bearing borrowings – non-current

13.1.1 The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited

Fixed debt  700 000  900 000 

The loan is secured in terms of first mortgage bonds over fixed
properties and a cession of leases.

During 2010, R450 million which was repayable on 31 December 2010, was 
extended for one year to take advantage of low short-term rates. The loan is 
repayable on 1 January 2012. The loan is unlikely to be repaid since Hyprop 
considers it part of long-term core debt facilities and will in all probability be  
refinanced on expiry, as has been done in prior years.

The following fixed interest rate agreements were in place throughout the year:

R300 million at 9,30% – expiry date November 2012

R100 million at 9,74% – expiry date August 2012

R100 million at 9,14% – expiry date November 2012 

R50 million at 9,31% – expiry date May 2012 

R50 million at 10,24% – expiry date May 2012 

R100 million at 10,18% – expiry date November 2015

Effective January 2011, the fixed interest rate agreements were amended as follows: 

R300 million at 9,66% – expiry date November 2012

R100 million at 9,74% – expiry date August 2012*(1)

R100 million at 9,50% – expiry date November 2012*(2)

R50 million at 9,67% – expiry date May 2012*(3)

R50 million at 10,24% – expiry date May 2012*(3)

R100 million at 10,18% – expiry date November 2015

Interest is payable quarterly in arrears. 

Floating debt 90 000  

R200 million of the R300 million fixed interest rate agreement which expires in 2015 
was broken in January 2010 in order to increase Hyprop’s flexibility with respect to 
the management of cash.

Interest is payable monthly in arrears. The interest rate is 1 month JIBAR plus 0,98% 
(for 70% of the full loan facility) or prime less 1,4% (for the remaining 30% of  
the facility).

 790 000  900 000 

*  These fixed interest rate agreements were extended during August 2010 by entering into forward starting interest rate swaps, each starting on the expiry date 
of the respective fixed interest rate agreement, as follows:

(1) R100 million extended to August 2015
(2) R100 million extended to November 2019
(3) R100 million extended to May 2017
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2010 2009

R000 R000

13. Long-term loans (continued)

 13.1 Interest-bearing borrowings – non-current (continued)

13.1.2 The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited  450 000  450 000 

Hyprop entered into a R500 million loan facility with The Standard Bank of South
Africa Limited in January 2009. The loan is repayable on 31 October 2013.
Interest is payable quarterly in arrears.

The loan is secured in terms of first mortgage bonds over fixed properties  
and a cession of leases.

R450 million of this facility is fixed until October 2013 at an all-in rate of 9,40%.

 450 000  450 000 

The market value of the bonded properties for all of Hyprop’s facilities with  
Standard Bank at year-end was R3,8 billion (Hyprop’s share of The Glen and 40% of 
Canal Walk).

13.1.3 Rand Merchant Bank (a division of FirstRand Bank Limited)

Fixed  200 000  200 000 

Floating 50 000  

The loan is repayable in September 2014. Interest is payable quarterly in arrears.

This loan facility is secured by a pledge and cession of 75 382 391 Sycom units.  
The Sycom units were valued at year-end at R1.53 billion.

R200 million of this facility was drawn down in September 2009 and the interest rate 
fixed until September 2014 at an all-in average rate of 10,11%. The remainder of the 
facility is floating at 175 basis points above JIBAR.

 250 000  200 000 

 1 490 000  1 550 000 

The average rate in respect of total debt was 9,37% in 2010, increasing to 9,44% from January 2011.

13.2 Borrowing powers

In terms of its articles of association, the borrowing powers of the company, excluding the debentures, are limited to 55% of the 
directors’ bona fide valuation of the company’s property portfolio.
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2010 2009

R000 R000

14. Derivative instruments
Opening balance as at 1 January  15 462   

Fair value adjustment  (7 577)  15 462 

Closing balance  7 884  15 462 

Assets:

Long-term Cancellable interest rate swap 10 671  

 Fixed interest rate agreement 2 556  

Liabilities:

Long-term Cancellable interest rate swap  21 111  12 447 

Short-term Cancellable interest rate swap  3 015 

 7 884  15 462 

Derivative instruments comprise two cancellable interest rate swaps with The Standard 
Bank of South Africa Limited.

Valuation of the derivative instruments was determined by Standard Bank by  
discounting the future cash flows using the JIBAR swap curve. 

The designation of such instruments has been further disclosed in note 32.

15. Deferred taxation
Change in fair value of investment property  1 551 830  1 414 614 

Change in fair value of listed property securities  15 229  4 669 

Tenant installations and building appurtenances  69 252  45 572 

Taxation loss  (56 987)  (37 729)

Straight-line rental income accrual  51 348  47 386 

Income received in advance  (6 731)  (4 763)

Other temporary differences  (4 314)  2 382 

 1 619 627  1 472 131 

Reconciliation of the movement in deferred taxation liability:

Opening balance 1 January  1 472 131  1 320 047 

Change in fair value of investment property  137 216  156 842 

Change in fair value of listed property securities  10 560  4 535 

Tenant installations and building appurtenances  18 034  14 013 

Taxation loss  (19 258)  (29 372)

Straight-line rental income accrual  3 961  3 729 

Income received in advance  (1 967)  (403)

Other temporary differences  (1 050)  2 740 

Closing balance  1 619 627  1 472 131 
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2010 2009

R000 R000

16. Payables
Trade creditors and accrued expenses  121 425  81 676 

Tenant deposits  22 499  23 133 

Gift cards  922  1 153 

Interest payable  13 454  19 631 

Other payables  14 270  9 098 

 172 570  134 691 

17. Interest received

From positive bank balances  7 006  26 931 

18. Interest paid
Long-term loans  136 681  128 558 

Capitalised  (8 121)  (30 798)

 128 560  97 760 

19. Net operating income
Net operating income is arrived at after accounting for the following:

Contingent rental income (turnover rental)  6 043  7 607 

Depreciation  6 248  6 863 

Management fees

– Asset management  39 894 

– Property management  12 752 

– Consulting fee 12 000  

20. Auditors’ remuneration
Audit fee – current year  1 092  1 054 

Adjustment in respect of the prior year  (55)  (257)

Other services  236  198 

 1 273  995 
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2010 2009

R000 R000

21. Directors’ emoluments
Non-executive

Fee for services as directors  2 075  1 369 

MS Aitken (paid to Corovest Property Group Holdings (Proprietary) Limited)  300  185 

WE Cesman (paid to Redefine Properties Limited) (resigned May 2010)  75  155 

EG Dube (paid to Vunani Capital (Proprietary) Limited)  180  155 

KM Ellerine  225  34 

JR McAlpine (paid to Dalkeith Management Services (Proprietary) Limited)  305  220 

S Shaw-Taylor (paid to The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited)  305    135 

MY Sibisi (resigned December 2010)  150  135 

M Wainer (paid to Redefine Properties Limited)  180  135 

LI Weil  325  215 

MJ Lewin (appointed December 2010 – paid to Redefine Properties Limited)  15 

DH Rice (appointed December 2010 – paid to Redefine Properties Limited)  15 

Executive  4 352  2 967 

PG Prinsloo (resigned February 2009)  525 

Basic salary  525 

Performance bonus

MF Rodel (CEO)  2 480  1 004 

Basic salary  1 571  560 

Provident fund contributions 109 44

Performance bonus  800  400 

LR Cohen (FD)  1 872  1 438 

Basic salary  1 144  830 

Provident fund contributions 128 129

Performance bonus  600  479 

Until 31 December 2009, the first R100 000 per month of the CEO’s remuneration was borne by Madison. All amounts paid to 
the CEO in excess of that amount were borne by Hyprop. The full cost of LR Cohen’s remuneration was borne by Madison.

From January 2010, the full cost of both the CEO’s and FD’s remuneration was borne by Hyprop.
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22. Incentive scheme
The Hyprop board recognises that a key factor to the success of Hyprop is the retention and incentivisation of management 
and staff. Accordingly, a scheme was formulated to reward employees who make a meaningful and sustainable contribution 
to the financial performance of Hyprop by providing them with the opportunity to participate in its future growth. Senior 
Hyprop management and staff were offered this incentive.

The incentive is directly linked to the performance of Hyprop’s combined units. Employees were granted ’phantom’ Hyprop 
combined units at a notional strike price of R40,00 per combined unit (“the initial price”). Employees receive an award 
equivalent to the increase in the market value of the Hyprop combined unit over the initial price. This award is paid in four 
payments within 30 days after the date on which the relevant payment is calculated, namely 31 March 2010, 31 March 
2011, 31 March 2012 and 31 March 2013.

The payment is calculated as follows:

Cash bonus = 1/4 AS x (P – R40,00) – relevant taxes

AS = allocated ’phantom’ units

P = volume weighted average traded price of Hyprop combined units for the 10 JSE trading days prior to the calculation date

If the market price of the Hyprop combined unit on the relevant calculation date is not greater than the initial price, no  
payment is made. The award is only applicable if the employee is in the employ of Hyprop on the payment date. 1 196 419 
’phantom’ Hyprop combined units were in issue at year-end (2009: 952 005).

25% of the total scheme liability is provided for in December of each year to ensure adequate provision for the coming year’s 
’phantom’ scheme payment.
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2010 2009

R000 R000

23. Taxation
Deferred taxation  (147 496)  (152 084)

No provision has been made for current taxation since the company has a loss for 
taxation purposes.

Reconciliation of taxation charge

Net profit before taxation at 28% (2009: 28%)  210 136  197 151 

Permanent differences:

Amortisation of debenture premium  (31 027)  (27 355)

Amortisation of financial guarantee for associate  (267)  (200)

Share of income from associate  (15 456)  (5 685)

Fair value adjustment to investment property  (3 656)  (11 621)

Fair value adjustment to listed property securities  (10 560)  (4 535)

Fair value adjustment to derivative instruments  (2 122)  4 329 

 Other permanent differences  481 

Deferred taxation asset not recognised in prior year  (467)

Adjustment to assessed loss  434 

Taxation expense per statement of comprehensive income  147 496  152 084 
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2010 2009

R000 R000

24. Earnings, headline earnings and distributable earnings per 
combined unit
At year-end, the company had 166 113 169 combined units in issue. The weighted 
average combined units in issue during the year was as follows: 

– for earnings, headline earnings and distributable earnings  166 113 169  166 113 169 

Reconciliation – earnings, headline earnings and distributable earnings

Net income after taxation  602 988  552 025 

Debenture interest  593 024  544 851 

Earnings  1 196 012  1 096 876 

Headline earnings adjustments  (489 099)  (531 749)

Amortisation of debenture premium  (110 810)  (97 696)

Change in fair value of investment property  (378 289)  (434 053)

Change in fair value before adjusting for deferred taxation  (517 262)  (580 121)

Deferred taxation  138 973  146 068 

Headline earnings  706 913  565 127 

Distributable earnings adjustments  (114 137)  (20 368)

Change in fair value of listed property securities  (64 870)  (27 856)

Change in fair value before adjusting for deferred taxation  (75 430)  (32 391)

Deferred taxation  10 560  4 535 

Change in fair value of derivative instruments  (7 577)  15 461 

Amortisation of financial guarantee for associate  (953)  (715)

Deferred taxation  (2 037)  1 481 

Share of income from associate  (39 683)  (8 739)

Attfund transaction costs  983 

Distributable earnings  592 776  544 759 

Earnings, headline earnings and distributable earnings per combined unit

 Cents  Cents 

Basic and diluted earnings per combined unit  720,0  660,3 

Headline earnings per combined unit  425,6  340,2 

Distributable earnings per combined unit  356,9  327,9
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Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2010

2010 2009

R000 R000

25. Notes to the cash flow statements

25.1 The following convention applies to figures other than adjustments:

Outflows of cash are represented by figures in brackets.

Inflows of cash are represented by figures without brackets.

25.2 Cash generated from operations

Net income before taxation  750 484  704 109 

Adjustments  (46 407)  (93 224)

Change in fair value:

Investment property  (517 262)  (580 121)

Listed property securities  (75 430)  (32 392)

Derivative instruments  (7 577)  15 462 

Share of income from associate  (55 201)  (20 305)

Depreciation  6 248  6 863 

Interest received  (7 006)  (26 931)

Interest paid  128 560  97 760 

Debenture interest paid  593 024  544 851 

Amortisation of debenture premium  (110 810)  (97 696)

Amortisation of financial guarantee for associate  (953)  (715)

Operating profit before working capital changes  704 077  610 885 

Decrease in working capital  31 886  13 145 

Increase in receivables  (5 993)  (20 655)

Increase in payables  37 879  33 800 

Cash generated from operations  735 963  624 030 

25.3 Debenture interest paid to combined unitholders

Debenture interest payable at the beginning of the year  (277 409)  (262 459)

Per statement of comprehensive income  (593 024)  (544 851)

Debenture interest payable at the end of the year  303 987  277 409 

 (566 446)  (529 901)
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2010 2009

R000 R000

26. Commitments

26.1 Capital commitments

Authorised capital expenditure

Contracted for  52 210  67 238 

Not yet contracted for  5 650  2 435 

57 860  69 673 

Capital commitments contracted for comprise the following:

Development costs

– Stoneridge  8 460 

– Canal Walk – various projects  14 857  23 568 

– Hyde Park – various projects  7 072 

– The Glen – additional retail  9 921  21 316 

– The Mall Offices – refurbishment  450 

– Cradock Heights – refurbishment  11 450 

– Canal Walk – additional bulk  16 000 

– Hyde Park – hotel  6 354 

 52 210  67 238 

Capital commitments not yet contracted for comprise the following:

Development costs

– Canal Walk – various projects  1 174 

– The Glen – air-conditioning  1 261 

– The Mall – Dion Wired  4 450 

– The Mall – Ster-Kinekor  1 200 

 5 650  2 435 

The above expenditure will be financed out of available cash resources and banking facilities.
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Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2010

2010 2009

R000 R000

26. Commitments (continued)

26.2 Operating expense commitments

The company has entered into various service contracts for the cleaning, upkeep and 
general maintenance of its investment property portfolio.

The operating expense commitments payable to service providers in future years have 
been classified as follows:

– short-term contracts (up to one year)  37 266  28 015 

– medium-term contracts (greater than one year and up to five years)  18 948  17 944 

There are no commitments for contracts beyond 2014.

27. Minimum lease payments receivable
Minimum lease payments comprise contractual rental income and operating expense 
recoveries from investment property.

The minimum lease payments receivable from tenants have been classified into the 
following categories:

– short-term (up to one year)  1 097 173  630 282 

– medium-term (greater than one year and up to five years)  1 934 988  1 462 228 

– long-term (greater than five years)  437 544  455 409 

28. Retirement benefits
All eligible employees are members of the Hyprop Investments Limited defined contribution provident fund. 
The retirement funding and risk-related benefits are market-related. All benefits from the provident fund accrue to the members.
The provident fund complies with all current legislation. The company has no commitment for post-retirement medical aid benefits. 
R610 966 was contributed to the provident fund during the year for group risk benefits and recognised as an expense.
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2010 2009

R000 R000

29. Related parties and related party transactions
Related parties with whom the company transacted during the year were:

The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited

Rental income received  10 954  7 983 

Interest on borrowings  118 827  122 948 

Long-term loans  1 240 000  1 350 000 

Relationship: Directorial

Madison

Expenditure comprising: 

Asset management fee  39 894 

Property management fee  8 873 

Development fee  2 115 

Letting commission  1 322  2 090 

Consulting fee  12 000 

Rental income received  676 

Relationship: Directorial

Canal Walk Manco

Management fee and letting commission  708  7 809 

Relationship: Joint management and directorial

Shareholders of Canal Walk Manco: Madison holds an 80% share and Ellerine Bros. 
(Proprietary) Limited holds a 20% share.

JHI Real Estate Limited 

Letting commission  1 692  1 450 

Rental income received  340  249 

Relationship: Directorial

Hyde Park Corner Merchants Association

Rental income received  78  48 

Relationship: Marketing of Hyde Park 

Vunani Capital (Proprietary) Limited

Asset management fee paid by associate  1 657  1 581 

Relationship: Directorial
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Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2010

2010 2009

R000 R000

29. Related parties and related party transactions (continued)

Ellerine Bros. (Proprietary) Limited

Rental income received – Stuttafords branches  12 917  10 179 

Relationship: Directorial

Key management remuneration

The following key management remuneration was paid during the year:

Salaries  7 051  4 281 

Bonuses  1 884  1 448 

30. Financial risk management

The company’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, loans from banks, receivables, interest rate fixes, listed 
property securities, debentures and payables. In respect of the above mentioned financial instruments, book values approximate 
fair value. Exposure to interest rate, credit and liquidity risks occurs in the normal course of business.

Interest rate risk
The company’s exposure to interest rate risk and interest rates on financial instruments at the reporting date were:

Year ended 31 December 2010

Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate
%

One year or 
less

R000

One to five
years
R000

More than
five years

R000
Total
R000

Financial assets

Listed property securities – non-current  Variable  1 529 268  1 529 268 

Receivables  86 584  86 584 

Cash and cash equivalents  67 747  67 747 

Total financial assets  154 331  1 529 268  1 683 599 

Financial liabilities

Debenture capital  Variable  2 447 895  2 447 895 

Interest-bearing borrowings  9,4  1 490 000  1 490 000 

Payables  172 570  172 570 

Combined unitholders for distribution  Variable  303 987  303 987 

Derivative instruments  (7 884)  (7 884)

Total financial liabilities  476 557  1 482 116  2 447 895  4 406 568 
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Year ended 31 December 2009

Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate
%

One year or 
less

R000

One to five
years
R000

More than
five years

R000
Total

R000

30. Financial risk management (continued)

Financial assets

Listed property securities – non-current  Variable  1 453 838  1 453 838 

Receivables  80 591  80 591 

Cash and cash equivalents  177 562  177 562 

Total financial assets  258 153  1 453 838  1 711 991 

Financial liabilities

Debenture capital  Variable  2 558 705  2 558 705 

Interest-bearing borrowings  9.5  1 250 000  300 000  1 550 000 

Payables  134 691  134 691 

Combined unitholders for distribution  Variable  277 409  277 409 

Derivative instruments  3 015  12 447  15 462 

Total financial liabilities  415 115  1 262 447  2 858 705  4 536 267 

Interest rates are monitored and appropriate steps taken to ensure that Hyprop’s exposure to interest rate fluctuations is limited. 
Interest rates have been fixed for extended periods ranging from 2012 to 2019. The expiry dates of the fixed interest rate 
agreements are disclosed in note 13. The average rate of interest at year-end (applicable to the fixed interest rate agreements)  
was 9,57% (2009: 9,48%).

Credit risk 
Credit risk arises from the risk that a counterparty may default or not meet its obligations timeously. Credit risk is limited to the 
carrying amount of financial assets at the reporting date.

Receivables 
Trade receivables consists of a large, widespread tenant base. The financial position of these tenants is monitored on an ongoing 
basis. An allowance is made for all specific doubtful debts at year-end. Management does not consider there to be any material 
credit risk exposure that is not already covered by a doubtful debt allowance. The carrying value of receivables is considered to 
be a reasonable approximation of fair value.

Listed property securities 
Listed property securities included in non-current assets represent Hyprop’s investment in Sycom. The value of this investment is 
monitored closely by management and the credit risk exposure is regarded as minimal.

Cash and cash equivalents 
It is company policy to deposit short-term cash investments with reputable financial institutions.

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the company will be unable to meet financial commitments. This risk is minimised by holding cash balances 
and by a floating loan facility. In addition, the company monitors liquidity risk by regularly monitoring forecast cash flows.
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Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2010

31. Capital management
The company’s borrowings excluding debentures are limited by its articles of association to 55% of the directors’ bona fide 
valuation of the consolidated property portfolio.

The company is funded by debentures and external borrowings. The company’s capital management objective is to maintain a 
strong capital base to provide sustainable returns to combined unitholders and other stakeholders. 

The company’s utilised borrowing capacity at 31 December can be summarised as follows:

2010 2009

R000 R000

Value of property portfolio* 11 238 630 10 500 014

55% thereof 6 181 247 5 775 007

Total borrowings 1 490 000 1 550 000

Unutilised borrowing capacity 4 691 247 4 225 007

* Includes listed property securities

32. Financial instruments by category

The accounting policies have been applied to the various financial instruments as indicated below:

32.1 Fair value estimation of financial instruments

Financial instruments measured at fair value are grouped by the level into which the fair value measurement is categorised:

Level 1: Fair value is derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical instruments.

Level 2: Fair value is derived through the use of valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3: Fair value is derived through the use of valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs.

The table below analyses financial instruments measured at fair value by the level into which the fair value measurement is categorised:

Loans 
and 

receivables
R000

Assets
designated

at fair value
through

profit and 
loss

R000
Level 1

R000
Level 2

R000
Level 3

R000

Assets

31 December 2010

Listed property securities  1 529 268  1 529 268 

Derivative instruments  13 227  13 227 

Receivables  86 584  86 584 

Cash and cash equivalents  67 747  67 747 
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Loans 
and 

receivables
R000

Assets
designated

at fair value
through profit 

and loss
R000

Level 1
R000

Level 2
R000

Level 3
R000

32. Financial instruments by category (continued)

Assets

31 December 2009

Listed property securities 1 453 838 1 453 838

Derivative instruments

Receivables 80 591 80 591

Cash and cash equivalents 177 562 177 562

Liabilities 
measured at 

amortised 
cost

R000

Liabilities
designated

at fair value
through profit 

and loss
R000

Level 1
R000

Level 2
R000

Level 3
R000

Liabilities

31 December 2010

Debentures and debenture premium  2 447 895 2 447 895

Long-term loans  1 490 000 1 490 000

Derivative instruments 21 111 21 111

Payables  172 570 172 570

Liabilities

31 December 2009

Debentures and debenture premium 2 558 705 2 558 705

Long-term loans 1 550 000 1 550 000

Derivative instruments  15 462 15 462

Payables 134 691 134 691
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Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2010

33. New and amended International Financial Reporting Standards not yet effective
Management anticipates that new or revised standards and interpretations will be adopted in the company’s accounting policies 
for the first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement or at an earlier date. Information on new standards, 
amendments and interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the company’s annual financial statements is provided below. 

Certain other new standards and interpretations have been issued but are not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s 
annual financial statements.

33.1 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – Effective date: Periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments was issued in November 2009 and amended in 2010. The standard introduces new requirements for 
the measurement and classification of financial assets and will replace the relevant sections of IAS 39. Under IFRS 9 there are two 
options in respect of classification of financial assets, namely financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value.

All equity instruments are measured at fair value. A debt instrument is measured at amortised cost only if the entity is holding it to 
collect contractual cash flows and the cash flows represent principal and interest. Otherwise it is measured at fair value through 
profit or loss. 

The most significant effect of IFRS 9 regarding the classification and measurement of financial liabilities relates to the accounting 
for changes in fair value of a financial liability, designated at fair value through profit or loss, attributable to changes in the credit 
risk of that liability. The requirements in IAS 39 relating to the derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities has been 
incorporated unchanged into the new version of IFRS 9.

Management has yet to assess the impact that this new and amended standard is likely to have on the financial statements of  
the company.

33.2 IAS 24 Related Parties – Effective date: Periods commencing on or after 1 January 2011
The amendment to the standard clarifies and simplifies the related party definition and other terms in the standard. The standard 
requires the nature of the relationship between related parties to be identified and disclosed. The standard will be effective for the 
company for the year ending 31 December 2011. The company has not yet determined whether the revised definitions will have 
the effect of additional relationships being identified that may require disclosure.

33.3 IAS 12 Deferred Taxation – Effective date: Periods commencing on or after: 1 January 2012
The amendment to the standard is relevant only when an entity elects to use the fair value model for measurement as defined in IAS 
40 Investment Property. The amendments introduce a rebuttable presumption that in such circumstances, an investment property is 
recovered entirely through sale. This presumption is rebutted if the investment property is held in a business model whose objective 
is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather than sale. 

Previously, a blended rate was utilised to calculate the deferred taxation component of fair value adjustments to investment property. 
In future periods a consistent rate of 14% will be applied in respect of fair value calculations measured in terms of IAS 40  
Investment Property. These amendments to IAS 12 will be applied for the first time in the company’s interim reporting period ending 
30 June 2011.
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Segmental analysis

Property portfolio Statement of comprehensive income Statement of financial position

Business segment GLA (m2)

Total
value

(R000)

Value
attributable
to Hyprop

(R000)
Revenue

(R000)

Net
property
income
(R000)

Historic 
yield #

%
Receivables

(R000)
Payables

(R000)

Long-
term

loans
(R000)

2010

Canal Walk  150 394  5 695 000  4 556 000  387 810  276 462  6,8  13 007  53 869 

The Glen  74 583  2 043 000  1 535 433  163 328  103 096  7,2  8 009  27 133 

Hyde Park  36 894  1 277 000  1 277 000  140 613  88 080  7,0  8 055  20 045 

The Mall  37 009  918 000  918 000  107 414  64 995  7,2  9 444  11 954 

Stoneridge  50 241  453 000  407 700  49 523  27 552  6,5  4 624  15 608 

Southcoast Mall  29 361  259 000  129 500  21 600  13 372  9,5  2 221  1 336 

Shopping Centres  378 482 10 645 000 8 823 633  870 288  573 557  45 360  129 945 

Offices  22 221  331 000  331 000  49 858  28 014  4 761  9 227 

Hotels  271 000  271 000  64 764  11 407  3 210  6 772 

Investment property  400 703 11 247 000 9 425 633  984 910  612 978  53 331  145 944 

Development property  73 674 

Listed property securities  1 529 268  1 529 268  119 990  255 

Investment in associate (VPIF)  210 055*  210 055* 

Straight-line rental income 
accrual  14 148 

Fund management  (36 044)  32 998  26 626 1 490 000

Net interest  (121 554)

 400 703 12 986 323 11 238 630  984 910  589 518  86 584  172 570 1 490 000

2009

Canal Walk  150 394  5 050 000  4 040 000  339 144  244 496  7,3  14 338  32 224 

The Glen  74 583  1 915 000  1 439 234  113 530  75 429  7,0  8 236  14 011 

Hyde Park  36 894  1 250 000  1 250 000  121 084  79 536  6,5  6 683  10 735 

The Mall  37 009  905 000  905 000  94 093  66 047 7,5  7 475  6 499 

Stoneridge  50 241  473 000  425 700  47 767  23 174  5,0  5 143  6 829 

Southcoast Mall  29 361  281 000  140 500  20 520  13 624  8,3  3 117  3 513 

Shopping Centres  378 482  9 874 000  8 200 434  736 138  502 306  44 992  73 811 

Offices  22 221  300 500  300 500  36 101  23 668  2 072  16 755 

Hotels  288 000  288 000  18 329  5 214  2 097  12 538 

Investment property  400 703 10 462 500 8 788 934  790 568  531 188  49 161  103 104 

Development property  87 743 

Listed property securities  1 453 838  1 453 838  119 769  74 

Investment in associate (VPIF)  169 499*  169 499* 

Straight-line rental income 
accrual  13 318 

Fund management  (47 840)  31 355  31 587 1 550 000

Net interest  (70 829)

 400 703 12 085 837 10 500 014  790 568  545 606  80 590  134 691 1 550 000

* Includes cumulative equity accounted profits of associate   
# Based on 2010 net property income and December 2009 valuations  
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Segmental analysis
for the year ended 31 December 2010

Geographical profile by GLA (m2)*

Sectoral profile by GLA (m2)*

Geographical profile by revenue (R)*

Sectoral profile by revenue (R)*

* Excludes Southern Sun Hyde Park

* Excludes Southern Sun Hyde Park

 Gauteng 228 441 56%

 Cape 150 394 37%

 KwaZulu-Natal 29 361 7%

408 196 100%

 Retail 378 482 93%

 Offices 22 221 5%

 Hotels 7 493 2%

408 196 100%

 Gauteng 575 501 59%

 Cape 387 810 39%

 KwaZulu-Natal 21 600 2%

984 911 100%

 Retail 870 288 88%

 Offices 49 858 5%

 Hotels 64 764 7%

984 910 100%
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Financial year-end  31 December

Publication of financial results 2 March 2011

Annual general meeting 28 June 2011

Annual report posted to combined unitholders May 2011

Interim report posted to combined unitholders August 2011

Combined unitholders’ diary

Distribution details
for the year ended 31 December 2010

Distribution 2010 2009

number (cents) (cents)

Interest on debentures

Six months ended:

30 June 2009 43 161,00

31 December 2009 44 167,00

30 June 2010 45 174,00

31 December 2010 46 183,00

357,00 328,00



ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HYPROP     ANNUAL REPORT 2010

86

 d)  repurchases may not be made at a price more than 

10% above the weighted average of the market value 

on the JSE of the combined units in question for the five 

business days immediately preceding the repurchase;

 e)  repurchases may not take place during a prohibited 

period (as defined in paragraph 3.67 of the Listings 

Requirements of the JSE) unless a repurchase 

programme is in place and the dates and quantities 

of combined units to be repurchased during the 

prohibited period have been determined and full 

details thereof announced on SENS prior to 

commencement of the prohibited period;

 f)  after the company has acquired combined units which 

constitute, on a cumulative basis, 3% of the number of 

combined units in issue (at the time that authority from 

combined unitholders for the repurchase is granted), 

the company shall publish an announcement to such 

effect, or any other announcements that may be 

required in such regard in terms of the JSE Listings 

Requirements applicable from time to time;

 g)  the company’s sponsor must confirm the adequacy of 

the company’s working capital for purposes of 

undertaking the repurchase of combined units in 

writing to the JSE prior to the company (or any 

subsidiary) entering the market to proceed with the 

repurchase; and

 h)  the company (or any subsidiary) shall appoint only 

one agent to effect repurchases on its behalf.”

  In accordance with the Listings Requirements of the JSE the 

directors record that:

  Although there is no immediate intention to effect a 

repurchase of the combined units of the company, the 

directors would utilise the general authority to repurchase 

combined units as and when suitable opportunities present 

themselves, which may require immediate action.

  The directors undertake that, after considering the 

maximum number of combined units that may be 

repurchased and the price at which the repurchases may 

take place pursuant to the buy-back general authority,  

for a period of 12 months after the date of this annual 

general meeting:

Hyprop Investments Limited
Registration number 1987/005284/06
(“Hyprop” or “the company”)
Share code: HYP
ISIN code: ZAE 000003430

Notice is hereby given that the annual general meeting of 
shareholders and debenture holders (“unitholders”) of Hyprop will 
be held at the offices of Hyprop, 3rd Floor, North Wing, Hyde 
Park Shopping Centre, Jan Smuts Avenue, on Tuesday, 28 June 
2011 at 10:00 for the purposes of:

A.  Considering and adopting the annual financial statements 
of the company for the year ended 31 December 2010;

B.  Transacting any other business as may be transacted at an 
annual general meeting of shareholders of a company;

1.  Considering and, if deemed fit, adopting with or 
without modification, the shareholder Special and 
Ordinary Resolutions set out below:

1.1  Special Resolution 1: Combined unit repurchases
  “Resolved that the directors be authorised in terms of the 

company’s articles of association, until this authority lapses 
at the next annual general meeting of the company unless 
it is then renewed at the next annual general meeting of 
the company and provided that this authority shall not 
extend beyond 15 months, to enable the company or any 
subsidiary of the company to acquire combined units of 
the company subject to the Listings Requirements of the JSE 
Limited (“JSE”) and the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as 
amended, on the following bases:

 a)  the acquisition of combined units must be implemented 
through the order book operated by the JSE trading 
system without any prior understanding or arrangement 
between the company and the counterparty;

 b)  the company (or any subsidiary) must be authorised 
to do so in terms of its articles of association;

 c)  the number of combined units which may be acquired 
pursuant to this authority in any financial year (which 
commenced 1 January 2011) may not in the aggregate 
exceed 20% (or 10% where the acquisitions are 
effected by a subsidiary) of the company’s share 
capital as at the date of this notice of annual  
general meeting;

Notice of annual general meeting of shareholders and debenture holders
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 Material changes
  Other than the facts and developments reported on in the 

annual report of which this notice forms part, there have 
been no material changes in the affairs or financial 
position of the company and its subsidiaries since the date 
of signature of the audit report for the financial year ended 
31 December 2010 and up to the date of this notice.

 Reason for and effect of Special Resolution 1
  The reason for Special Resolution 1 is to afford directors 

of the company general authority for the company (or a 
subsidiary of the company) to effect a buy-back of the 
company’s combined units on the JSE. The effect of the 
resolution will be that the directors will have the authority, 
subject to the Listings Requirements of the JSE and the 
Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as amended, to effect 
acquisitions of the company’s combined units on the JSE.

1.2  Special Resolution 2: Amendment of articles of 
association

  “Resolved as a special resolution in terms of the 
Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as amended, that the articles 
of association be and are hereby amended, subject to 
any necessary approvals in terms of the Listings 
Requirements of the JSE Limited by the addition of the 
following new article: 

  39.7 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the 
articles regarding the payment of dividends, interest or 
other moneys by cheque, warrant or coupon, the directors 
may determine that all future payments to members be 
made by way of electronic funds transfer directly to the 
bank account of the member entitled to such payment, 
and that no future payments shall be made by cheque.”

 Reason for and effect of Special Resolution 2
  The reason for Special Resolution 2 is to amend the 

articles of association to permit the company to cease 
payments to members by way of cheques and to effect 
payments utilising only electronic funds transfers. The 
effect of the resolution will be that the articles of 
association will be so amended.

1.3  Special Resolution 3: Approval of directors’ 
remuneration proposed for the year ending 
31 December 2011

  “Resolved that the directors’ remuneration proposed for 
the year ending 31 December 2011 as set out below, be 

and is approved:

 •  the company and the group will, in the ordinary course 

of business, be able to pay its debts;

 •  the consolidated assets of the company and the group 

fairly valued in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards, will be in excess of the 

consolidated liabilities of the company and the group 

after the buy-back; and

 •  the company’s and the group’s share capital, reserves 

and working capital will be adequate for ordinary 

business purposes.

  The following additional information, some of which may 

appear elsewhere in the annual report of which this notice 

forms part, is provided in terms of the Listings Requirements 

of the JSE for purposes of this general authority:

 • Directors and management – pages 40 to 43;

 • Major beneficial unitholders – page 64;

 • Directors’ interests in combined units – page 50; and

 • Capital structure of the company – pages 64 and 65.

 Litigation statement

  In terms of section 11.26 of the Listings Requirements of 

the JSE, the directors, whose names appear on pages 40 

and 41 of the annual report of which this notice forms 

part, are not aware of any legal or arbitration proceedings 

including proceedings that are pending or threatened, 

that may have or have had in the recent past (being at 

least the previous 12 months) a material effect on 

Hyprop’s financial position.

 Directors’ responsibility statement

  The directors whose names appear on pages 40 and 

41 of the annual report of which this notice forms part, 

collectively and individually accept full responsibility for 

the accuracy of the information pertaining to this 

special resolution and certify that, to the best of their 

knowledge and belief, there are no facts that have been 

omitted which would make any statement false or 

misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries to 

ascertain such facts have been made and that the 

special resolution contains all information required by 

the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as amended, and the 

Listings Requirements of the JSE.
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  An abridged curriculum vitae is included in the annual 
report of which this notice forms part.

1.9 Ordinary Resolution 6: Re-election of director
  “Resolved that JR McAlpine who retires by rotation in terms 

of the company’s articles of association and who, being 
eligible, offers himself for re-election, be re-elected as a 
director of the company.”

  An abridged curriculum vitae is included in the annual 
report of which this notice forms part.

1.10 Ordinary Resolution 7: Re-election of director
  “Resolved that M Wainer who retires by rotation in terms 

of the company’s articles of association and who, being 
eligible, offers himself for re-election, be re-elected as a 
director of the company.”

  An abridged curriculum vitae is included in the annual 
report of which this notice forms part.

1.11 Ordinary Resolution 8: Re-election of director
  “Resolved that LI Weil who retires by rotation in terms of 

the company’s articles of association and who, being 
eligible, offers himself for re-election, be re-elected as a 
director of the company.”

  An abridged curriculum vitae is included in the annual 
report of which this notice forms part.

1.12 Ordinary Resolution 9: Re-appointment of auditors
  “Resolved that Grant Thornton be re-appointed as the 

auditors of the company and Edward Dreyer be appointed 
as the individual registered auditor.”

1.13 Ordinary Resolution 10: Unissued combined units
  “Resolved that all authorised but unissued combined units 

of the company be placed under the control of the 
directors of the company until the next annual general 
meeting, with the authority to allot and issue all or  
part thereof in their discretion, subject to the Companies 
Act, 71 of 2008, as amended, and the Listings Requirements 
of the JSE Limited.”

1.14  Ordinary Resolution 11: Issue of combined units 
for cash

  “Resolved that, pursuant to the articles of association of the 

company, the directors of the company be and are hereby 

authorised until this authority lapses at the next annual 
general meeting of the company, provided that this 

 •  Board Chairman R250 000 pa;
 •  Non-executive director R160 000 pa;
 •  Audit Committee chairman R120 000 pa;
 •  Audit Committee member R100 000 pa;
 •  Remuneration Committee member R20 000 pa;
 •  Nomination Committee member R20 000 pa; 
 •  Risk Committee member R20 000 pa;
 •  CEO R200 000 per month; and 
 •  Financial Director R135 000 per month.”

 Reason for and effect of Special Resolution 3
  The reason for and effect of Special Resolution 3 is to pre-

approve the remuneration and fees payable to the non-
executive directors as required in terms of sections 66(8) 
and (9) of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as amended.

1.4  Ordinary Resolution 1: Adoption of annual financial 
statements

  “Resolved that the annual financial statements of the 
company for the year ended 31 December 2010 be and 
are received and adopted.”

1.5 Ordinary Resolution 2: Re-election of director
  “Resolved that L Engelbrecht who retires in terms of the 

company’s articles of association and who, being eligible, 
offers herself for re-election, be re-elected as a director of 
the company.”

  An abridged curriculum vitae is included in the annual 
report of which this notice forms part.

1.6  Ordinary Resolution 3: Re-election of director
  “Resolved that MJ Lewin who retires in terms of the 

company’s articles of association and who, being eligible, 
offers himself for re-election, be re-elected as a director of 
the company.”

  An abridged curriculum vitae is included in the annual 
report of which this notice forms part.

1.7 Ordinary Resolution 4: Re-election of director
  “Resolved that PG Prinsloo who retires in terms of the 

company’s articles of association and who, being eligible, 
offers himself for re-election, be re-elected as a director of 
the company.”

  An abridged curriculum vitae is included in the annual 
report of which this notice forms part.

1.8 Ordinary Resolution 5: Re-election of director
  “Resolved that DH Rice who retires by rotation in terms of 

the company’s articles of association and who, being 
eligible, offers himself for re-election, be re-elected as a 
director of the company.” 
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  In terms of the Listings Requirements of the JSE a 75% 
majority of the votes cast by unitholders present or 
represented by proxy at the annual general meeting 
must be cast in favour of Ordinary Resolution 11 for it to 
be approved.

1.15  Ordinary Resolution 12: Re-appointment of members 
of the Audit Committee

  “Resolved that the following non-executive directors be 
re-appointed as members of the Audit Committee:  
LI Weil (Chairman), JR Mc Alpine, L Engelbrecht and  
S Shaw-Taylor.”

1.16 Ordinary Resolution 13: Signature of documentation
  “Resolved that a director of the company or the company 

secretary be and is hereby authorised to sign all such 
documentation and do all such things as may be 
necessary for or incidental to the implementation of 
Ordinary Resolution numbers 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 
10, 11 and 12 and Special Resolution numbers 1, 2 and 
3, which are passed by the unitholders with and subject 
to the terms thereof.”

C.  Transacting any other business as may be transacted at 
an annual general meeting of debenture holders of a 
company; and

1.  Considering and, if deemed fit, adopting with or 
without modification, the debenture holder Special 
and Ordinary Resolutions set out below:

1.1  Debenture Special Resolution 1: Combined unit 
repurchases

  “Resolved that the directors be authorised in terms of the 
company’s articles of association and the provisions of 
the Hyprop Debenture Trust Deed, until this authority 
lapses at the next annual general meeting of the company, 
provided that this authority shall not extend beyond 
15 months, to enable the company or any subsidiary of 
the company to acquire combined units of the company 
subject to the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited 
(“JSE”) and the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as 
amended, on the following bases:

 a)  the acquisition of combined units must be implemented 

through the order book operated by the JSE trading 

system without any prior understanding or arrangement 

between the company and the counterparty;

 b)  the company (or any subsidiary) must be authorised 

to do so in terms of its articles of association;

authority shall not extend beyond 15 months, to allot and 
issue combined units for cash subject to the Listings 
Requirements of the JSE Limited (‘JSE’) and the Companies 
Act, 71 of 2008, on the following bases:

 a)  the allotment and issue of combined units for cash 
shall be made only to persons qualifying as public 
shareholders as defined in the Listings Requirements 
of the JSE and not to related parties;

 b)  the number of combined units issued for cash shall 
not in the aggregate in the financial year of the 
company (which commenced 1 January 2011) 
exceed 5% of the company’s issued combined units. 
The number of combined units which may be issued 
for cash shall be based on the number of combined 
units in issue at the date of the application, less any 
combined units issued by the company during the 
current financial year, provided that any combined 
units to be issued for cash pursuant to a rights issue 
(announced and irrevocable and underwritten) or 
acquisition (concluded up to the date of application) 
may be included as though they were combined 
units in issue at the date of application;

 c)  the maximum discount at which combined units may 
be issued for cash is 10% of the weighted average 
price on the JSE of those combined units over 
30 days prior to the date that the price of the issue 
is agreed between the company and the party 
subscribing for the combined units;

 d)  after the company has issued combined units for 
cash which represent, on a cumulative basis within a 
financial year 5% or more of the number of 
combined units in issue prior to that issue, the 
company shall publish an announcement containing 
full details of the issue, including the effect of the 
issue on the net asset value, net tangible asset value, 
earnings, headline earnings, and if applicable 
diluted earnings and diluted headline earnings per 
combined unit of the company; and

 e)  the combined units which are the subject of the issue 
for cash must be of a class already in issue, or where 
this is not the case, must be limited to such combined 
units or rights as are convertible into a class already 

in issue.”
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combined units as and when suitable opportunities present 
themselves, which may require immediate action.

  The directors undertake that, after considering the maximum 

number of combined units that may be repurchased and 

the price at which the repurchases may take place pursuant 

to the buy-back general authority, for a period of  

12 months after the date of this annual general meeting:

 •   the company and the group will, in the ordinary course 

of business, be able to pay its debts;

 •  the consolidated assets of the company and the group 

fairly valued in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards, will be in excess of the consolidated 

liabilities of the company and the group after the buy-

back; and

 •  the company’s and the group’s share capital, reserves 

and working capital will be adequate for ordinary 

business purposes. 

  The following additional information, some of which may 

appear elsewhere in the annual report of which this notice 

forms part, is provided in terms of the Listings Requirements 

of the JSE for purposes of this general authority:

 •  Directors and management – pages 40 to 43;

 •  Major beneficial unitholders – page 64;

 •  Directors’ interests in combined units – page 50; and

 •  Capital structure of the company – pages 64 and 65.

 Litigation statement

  In terms of section 11.26 of the Listings Requirements of 

the JSE, the directors, whose names appear on pages 40 

and 41 of the annual report of which this notice forms 

part, are not aware of any legal or arbitration proceedings 

including proceedings that are pending or threatened,  

that may have or have had in the recent past (being  

at least the previous 12 months) a material effect on Hyprop’s 

financial position.

 Directors’ responsibility statement

  The directors whose names appear on pages 40 and 41 
of the annual report of which this notice forms part, 
collectively and individually accept full responsibility for 
the accuracy of the information pertaining to this debenture 
resolution and certify that, to the best of their knowledge 
and belief, there are no facts that have been omitted which 
would make any statement false or misleading, and that 
all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts have been 

 c)  the number of combined units which may be acquired 

pursuant to this authority in the financial year (which 

commenced 1 January 2011) may not in the aggregate 

exceed 20% (or 10% where the acquisitions are 

effected by a subsidiary) of the company’s issued 

combined units as at the date of this notice of annual 

general meeting;

 d)  repurchases may not be made at a price more than 
10% above the weighted average of the market value 
on the JSE of the combined units in question for the 
five business days immediately preceding the 
repurchase;

 e)  repurchases may not take place during a prohibited 
period (as defined in paragraph 3.67 of the Listings 
Requirements of the JSE) unless a repurchase 
programme is in place and the dates and quantities 
of combined units to be repurchased during the 
prohibited period have been determined and full 
details thereof announced on SENS prior to 
commencement of the prohibited period;

 f)  after the company has acquired combined units 
which constitute, on a cumulative basis, 3% of the 
number of combined units in issue (at the time that 
authority from combined unitholders for the  
repurchase is granted), the company shall publish an 
announcement to such effect, or any other 
announcements that may be required in such regard 
in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements applicable 
from time to time;

 g)  the company’s sponsor must confirm the adequacy of 
the company’s working capital for purposes of 
undertaking the repurchase of combined units in 
writing to the JSE prior to the company (or any 
subsidiary) entering the market to proceed with the 
repurchase; and

 h)  the company (or any subsidiary) shall appoint only 
one agent to effect repurchases on its behalf.”

  In accordance with the Listings Requirements of the JSE the 
directors record that:

  Although there is no immediate intention to effect a 
repurchase of the combined units of the company, the 
directors would utilise the general authority to repurchase 
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(announced and irrevocable and underwritten) or 

acquisition (concluded up to the date of application) 

may be included as though they were combined 

units in issue at the date of application;

 c)  the maximum discount at which combined units may 

be issued for cash is 10% of the weighted average 

price on the JSE of those combined units over 

30 days prior to the date that the price of the issue 

is agreed between the company and the party 

subscribing for the combined units;

 d)  after the company has issued combined units for 

cash which represent, on a cumulative basis within a 

financial year, 5% or more of the number of 

combined units in issue prior to that issue, the 

company shall publish an announcement containing 

full details of the issue, including the effect of the 

issue on the net asset value, net tangible asset value, 

earnings, headline earnings, and if applicable 

diluted earnings and diluted headline earnings per 

combined unit of the company; and

 e)  the combined units which are the subject of the issue 

for cash must be of a class already in issue, or where 

this is not the case, must be limited to such combined 

units or rights as are convertible into a class already 

in issue.”

  In terms of the Listings Requirements of the JSE a 75% 

majority of the votes cast by debenture holders present in 

person or represented by proxy at the annual general 

meeting must be cast in favour of Debenture Special 

Resolution 2 for it to be approved.

1.3  Debenture Ordinary Resolution 1: Unissued combined 

units

  “Resolved that all authorised but unissued combined units 

of the company be placed under the control of the 

directors of the company until the next annual general 

meeting, with the authority to allot and issue all or part 

thereof in their discretion, subject to the Companies Act, 

71 of 2008, as amended, and the Listings Requirements 

of the JSE Limited.”

made and that the debenture resolution contains all 

information required by the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, 

as amended, and the Listings Requirements of the JSE.

 Material changes

  Other than the facts and developments reported on in the 

annual report of which this notice forms part, there have 

been no material changes in the affairs or financial 

position of the company and its subsidiaries since the date 

of signature of the audit report for the financial year ended 

31 December 2010 and up to the date of this notice.

  In terms of the Hyprop Debenture Trust Deed, the 

resolution is classed as a debenture special resolution 

and as such is required to be passed by a majority 

consisting of not less than 75% of the votes cast by 

debenture holders present in person or represented by 

proxy at the meeting.

1.2   Debenture Special Resolution 2: Issue of combined 
units for cash

  “Resolved that, pursuant to the articles of association of 

the company and the Hyprop Debenture Trust Deed, the 

directors of the company be and are hereby authorised 

until this authority lapses at the next annual general 

meeting of the company, provided that this authority shall 

not extend beyond 15 months, to allot and issue 

combined units for cash subject to the Listings Requirements 

of the JSE Limited (“JSE”) and the Companies Act, 71 of 

2008, on the following bases:

 a)  the allotment and issue of combined units for cash 

shall be made only to persons qualifying as public 

unitholders as defined in the Listings Requirements of 

the JSE and not to related parties;

 b)  the number of combined units issued for cash shall 

not in the aggregate in the financial year of the 

company (which commenced 1 January 2011) 

exceed 5% of the company’s issued combined units. 

The number of combined units which may be issued 

for cash shall be based on the number of combined 

units in issue at the date of the application, less any 

combined units issued by the company during the 

current financial year, provided that any combined 

units to be issued for cash pursuant to a rights issue 
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Notice of annual general meeting of shareholders and debenture holders (continued)

attend, but wish to vote at the annual general meeting, must 

timeously provide their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions 

in terms of the custody agreement entered into between that 

unitholder and the CSDP or broker. Such unitholders are advised 

that they must provide their CSDP or broker with separate voting 

instructions in respect of the shares and the debentures in terms of 

their combined units.

Forms of proxy may also be obtained on request from the 

company’s registered office. The completed forms of proxy must be 

deposited at, posted or faxed to the transfer secretaries 

Computershare Investor Services (Proprietary) Limited, Ground 

Floor, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001 (PO Box 61051, 

Marshalltown, 2107), to be received at least 48 hours prior to the 

meeting. Any unitholder who completes and lodges a form of 

proxy will nevertheless be entitled to attend and vote in person at 

the annual general meeting should the unitholder subsequently 

decide to do so. 

By order of the board.

Probity Business Services (Proprietary) Limited
Company Secretary

Registered office
3rd Floor, North Wing
Hyde Park Shopping Centre
Jan Smuts Avenue, Sandton
2196

Transfer secretaries
Computershare Investor Services (Proprietary) Limited
Ground Floor
70 Marshall Street
Johannesburg
2001

1.4.  Debenture Ordinary Resolution 2: Signature of 

documentation

  “Resolved that a director of the company or the company 

secretary be and is hereby authorised to sign all such 

documentation and do all such things as may be necessary 

for or incidental to the implementation of Debenture 

Special Resolution numbers 1 and 2 and Debenture 

Ordinary Resolution number 1, which are passed by  

the combined unitholders with and subject to the  

terms thereof.”

Voting and proxies

Each of Hyprop’s combined units comprises one ordinary share 

and one debenture. Certificated and own-name dematerialised 

unitholders are therefore advised that they must complete a 

separate form of proxy for shareholders and for debenture holders 

in order for their vote/s to be valid. The form of proxy for 

certificated and own-name dematerialised shareholders is set out 

on page 93 of the annual report and the form of proxy for 

certificated and own-name dematerialised debenture holders is set 

out on page 96 of the annual report.

A unitholder of the company entitled to attend, speak and vote at 

the annual general meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy or 

proxies to attend, speak and to vote in his stead. The proxy need 

not be a unitholder of the company.

On a show of hands, every unitholder of the company present in 

person or represented by proxy shall have one vote only. On a 

poll, every unitholder of the company present in person or 

represented by proxy shall have one vote for every combined unit 

held in the company by such unitholder.

A form of proxy is attached for the convenience of certificated and 

own-name dematerialised unitholders holding combined units in 

the company who cannot attend the annual general meeting but 

wish to be represented thereat. Such unitholders must complete 

and return the attached form of proxy and lodge it with the transfer 

secretaries of the company.

Dematerialised unitholders who have not elected own-name 

registration in the sub-register of the company through a Central 

Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) and who wish to attend 

the annual general meeting, must instruct the CSDP or broker to 

provide them with the necessary authority to attend. Dematerialised 

unitholders who have not elected own-name registration in the sub-

register of the company through a CSDP and who are unable to 
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Form of proxy for shareholders

Hyprop Investments Limited
Registration number 1987/005284/06
(“Hyprop” or “the company”)
Share code: HYP
ISIN code: ZAE 000003430

Each of Hyprop’s combined units comprises one ordinary share and 
one debenture. Certificated and own-name dematerialised debenture 
holders are therefore advised that they must complete a separate form 
of proxy for certificated and own-name dematerialised shareholders 
and a separate form of proxy for certificated and own-name 
dematerialised debenture holders in order for their vote/s to be valid. 
The form of proxy for certificated and own-name dematerialised 
debenture holders is set out on page 95 of the annual report.

This form of proxy is for use by the holders of the company’s certificated 
combined units (“certificated unitholders”) and/or dematerialised 
combined units held through a Central Securities Depository Participant 
(“CSDP”) or broker who have selected own-name registration and who 

cannot attend but wish to be represented at the annual general meeting 
of the company at the offices of Hyprop, 3rd Floor, North Wing, Hyde 
Park Shopping Centre, Jan Smuts Avenue, Sandton, on Tuesday, 
28 June 2011 at 10:00 or any adjournment if required. Additional 
forms of proxy are available at the company’s registered office. Not 
for the use by holders of the company’s dematerialised combined units 
who have not selected own-name registration. Such unitholders must 
contact their CSDP or broker timeously if they wish to attend and vote 
at the annual general meeting and request that they be issued with the 
necessary authorisation to do so, or provide the CSDP or broker 
timeously with their voting instructions should they not wish to attend 
the annual general meeting but wish to be represented thereat, in order 
for the CSDP or broker to vote in accordance with their instructions.

For use at the annual general meeting:

I/We   (NAME IN BLOCK LETTERS)

of  (ADDRESS) 

being the registered holder of  combined units 

hereby appoint of  

or failing him/her, of

or failing him/her, the chairperson of the general meeting as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the annual general meeting 
of the company.

Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate spaces how you wish your votes to be cast. Unless this is done the proxy will vote as he/she thinks fit.

In favour of Against Abstain

1.1 Special Resolution 1:    General authority to enable the company (or any subsidiary) to  
repurchase combined units of the company

1.2 Special Resolution 2:   Amendment of articles of association
1.3 Special Resolution 3: To approve the proposed remuneration of directors for 2011
1.4 Ordinary Resolution 1: To receive and adopt the annual financial statements for the year ended  

31 December 2010
1.5 Ordinary Resolution 2: To re-elect L Engelbrecht as a director of the company
1.6 Ordinary Resolution 3: To re-elect MJ Lewin as a director of the company
1.7 Ordinary Resolution 4: To re-elect PG Prinsloo as a director of the company
1.8 Ordinary Resolution 5 To re-elect DH Rice as a director of the company
1.9 Ordinary Resolution 6: To re-elect JR McAlpine as a director of the company
1.10 Ordinary Resolution 7: To re-elect M Wainer as a director of the company
1.11 Ordinary Resolution 8: To re-elect LI Weil as a director of the company
1.12 Ordinary Resolution 9: To re-appoint Grant Thornton as auditors of the company together with  

EFG Dreyer as the individual registered auditor
1.13 Ordinary Resolution 10: To place the unissued combined units under the control of directors
1.14 Ordinary Resolution 11: General authority to enable the company to issue for cash up to 5% of  

the authorised but unissued combined units
1.15 Ordinary Resolution 12: To re-appoint the members of the Audit Committee
1.16 Ordinary Resolution 13: To authorise the signature of documentation

Signed this  day of 2011.

Signature  Assisted by  (if applicable)

Please read the notes on the reverse.
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7. Forms of proxy must be lodged at, posted or faxed to the 
transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services 
(Proprietary) Limited, Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street, 
Johannesburg, 2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107), 
to be received at least 48 hours prior to the meeting.

8. The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not 
preclude the relevant unitholder from attending the annual 
general meeting and speaking and voting in person 
thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms 
hereof, should such unitholder wish to do so. Where there 
are joint holders of combined units, the vote of the first 
joint holder who tenders a vote as determined by the order 
in which the names stand in the register of unitholders, will 
be accepted.

9. Where there are joint holders of any combined units, only 
that holder whose name appears first in the register in respect 
of such combined units needs to sign this form of proxy.

10. The chairperson of the annual general meeting may reject 
or accept any form of proxy which is completed and/or 
received otherwise than in accordance with these notes, 
provided that, in respect of acceptances, the chairperson 
is satisfied as to the manner in which the unitholder 
concerned wishes to vote.

11. Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a 
person signing this form of proxy in a representative 
capacity must be attached to this form of proxy unless 
previously recorded by the company or Computershare 
Investor Services (Proprietary) Limited or waived by the 
chairperson of the annual general meeting.

12. Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy 
must be initialled by the signatory/ies.

13. A minor must be assisted by his/her parent/guardian 
unless the relevant documents establishing his/her legal 
capacity are produced or have been registered by 
Computershare Investor Services (Proprietary) Limited.

1. Each of Hyprop’s combined units comprises one ordinary 
share and one debenture. Certificated and own-name 
dematerialised shareholders are therefore advised that 
they must complete a separate form of proxy for certificated 
and own-name dematerialised shareholders and a 
separate form of proxy for certificated and own-name 
dematerialised debenture holders in order for their vote/s 
to be valid. The form of proxy for certificated and own-
name dematerialised debenture holders is set out on page 
95 of the annual report.

2. This form of proxy is to be completed only by those 
members who are:

 •  holding combined units in certificated form; or

 •  recorded in the sub-register in electronic form in their 
“own-name”.

3. Each unitholder is entitled to appoint one or more proxies 
(none of whom need to be a unitholder of the company) to 
attend, speak and vote in place of that shareholder at the 
annual general meeting.

4. Unitholders that are certificated or own-name dematerialised 
unitholders may insert the name of a proxy or the names 
of two alternate proxies of the unitholder’s choice in the 
space/s provided, with or without deleting “the chairperson 
of the general meeting”, but any such deletion must be 
initialled by the shareholders. The person whose name 
stands first on the form of proxy and who is present at the 
annual general meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to 
the exclusion of those whose names follow. If no proxy is 
named on a lodged form of proxy, the chairperson shall 
be deemed to be appointed as the proxy.

5. A unitholder’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated 
by the insertion of the relevant number of votes exercisable 
by the unitholder in the appropriate box provided. Failure 
to comply with the above will be deemed to authorise the 
proxy, in the case of any proxy other than the chairperson, 
to vote or abstain from voting as deemed fit and in the 
case of the chairperson to vote in favour of the resolution.

6. A unitholder or his/her proxy is not obliged to use all the 
votes exercisable by the unitholder, but the total of the 
votes cast or abstained from may not exceed the total of 
the votes exercisable in respect of the combined units held 
by the unitholder.

Notes to the form of proxy for shareholders
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Form of proxy for debenture holders

Hyprop Investments Limited
Registration number 1987/005284/06
(“Hyprop” or “the company”)
Share code: HYP
ISIN code: ZAE 000003430

Each of Hyprop’s combined units comprises one ordinary share and 
one debenture. Certificated and own-name dematerialised debenture 
holders are therefore advised that they must complete a separate 
form of proxy for certificated and own-name dematerialised 
shareholders and a separate form of proxy for certificated and own-
name dematerialised debenture holders in order for their vote/s to be 
valid. The form of proxy for certificated and own-name dematerialised 
shareholders is set out on page 93 of the annual report.

This form of proxy is for use by the holders of the company’s certificated 
combined units (“certificated unitholders”) and/or dematerialised 
combined units held through a Central Securities Depository Participant 
(“CSDP”) or broker who have selected own-name registration and who 

cannot attend but wish to be represented at the annual general meeting 
of the company at the offices of Hyprop, 3rd Floor, North Wing, Hyde 
Park Shopping Centre, Jan Smuts Avenue, Sandton, on Tuesday, 
28 June 2011 at 10:00 or any adjournment if required. Additional 
forms of proxy are available at the company’s registered office. Not for 
the use by holders of the company’s dematerialised combined units 
who have not selected own-name registration. Such unitholders must 
contact their CSDP or broker timeously if they wish to attend and vote 
at the annual general meeting and request that they be issued with the 
necessary authorisation to do so, or provide the CSDP or broker 
timeously with their voting instructions should they not wish to attend 
the annual general meeting but wish to be represented thereat, in order 
for the CSDP or broker to vote in accordance with their instructions.

For use at the annual general meeting:

I/We   (NAME IN BLOCK LETTERS)

of  (ADDRESS) 

being the registered holder of  combined units 

hereby appoint of  

or failing him/her, of

or failing him/her, the chairperson of the general meeting as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the annual general meeting 
of the company.

Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate spaces how you wish your votes to be cast. Unless this is done the proxy will vote as he/she thinks fit.

In favour of Against Abstain

1.1 Debenture Special 
Resolution 1: 

General authority to enable the company (or any subsidiary) to repurchase 
combined units of the company

1.2 Debenture Special 
Resolution 2: 

General authority to enable the company to issue for cash up to 5% of the 
authorised but unissued combined units

1.3 Debenture Ordinary 
Resolution 1: To place the unissued combined units under the control of directors

1.4 Debenture Ordinary 
Resolution 2: To authorise the signature of documentation

Signed this  day of 2011.

Signature  Assisted by  (if applicable)

Please read the notes on the reverse.
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7. Forms of proxy must be lodged at, posted or faxed to  
the transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services 
(Proprietary) Limited, Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street, 
Johannesburg, 2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 
2107), to be received at least 48 hours prior to  
the meeting.

8. The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not 
preclude the relevant unitholder from attending the annual 
general meeting and speaking and voting in person 
thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms 
hereof, should such unitholder wish to do so. Where there 
are joint holders of combined units, the vote of the first 
joint holder who tenders a vote as determined by the order 
in which the names stand in the register of unitholders, will 
be accepted.

9. Where there are joint holders of any combined units, only 
that holder whose name appears first in the register in 
respect of such combined units needs to sign this form of 
proxy.

10. The chairperson of the annual general meeting may reject 
or accept any form of proxy which is completed and/or 
received otherwise than in accordance with these notes, 
provided that, in respect of acceptances, the chairperson 
is satisfied as to the manner in which the unitholder 
concerned wishes to vote.

11. Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a 
person signing this form of proxy in a representative 
capacity must be attached to this form of proxy unless 
previously recorded by the company or Computershare 
Investor Services (Proprietary) Limited or waived by the 
chairperson of the annual general meeting.

12. Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy 
must be initialled by the signatory/ies.

13. A minor must be assisted by his/her parent/guardian 
unless the relevant documents establishing his/her legal 
capacity are produced or have been registered by 
Computershare Investor Services (Proprietary) Limited.

1. Each of Hyprop’s combined units comprises one ordinary 
share and one debenture. Certificated and own-name 
dematerialised debenture holders are therefore advised 
that they must complete a separate form of proxy for 
certificated and own-name dematerialised shareholders 
and a separate form of proxy for certificated and own-
name dematerialised debenture holders in order for their 
vote/s to be valid. The form of proxy for certificated and 
own-name dematerialised shareholders is set out on page 
93 of the annual report.

2. This form of proxy is to be completed only by those 
members who are:

 •  holding combined units in certificated form; or

 •  recorded in the sub-register in electronic form in their 
“own-name”.

3. Each unitholder is entitled to appoint one or more proxies 
(none of whom need to be a unitholder of the company) to 
attend, speak and vote in place of that shareholder at the 
annual general meeting.

4. Unitholders that are certificated or own-name dematerialised 
unitholders may insert the name of a proxy or the names 
of two alternate proxies of the unitholder’s choice in the 
space/s provided, with or without deleting “the chairperson 
of the general meeting”, but any such deletion must be 
initialled by the shareholders. The person whose name 
stands first on the form of proxy and who is present at the 
annual general meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to 
the exclusion of those whose names follow. If no proxy is 
named on a lodged form of proxy, the chairperson shall 
be deemed to be appointed as the proxy.

5. A unitholder’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated 
by the insertion of the relevant number of votes exercisable 
by the unitholder in the appropriate box provided. Failure 
to comply with the above will be deemed to authorise  
the proxy, in the case of any proxy other than the 
chairperson, to vote or abstain from voting as deemed  
fit and in the case of the chairperson to vote in favour of 
the resolution.

6. A unitholder or his/her proxy is not obliged to use all the 
votes exercisable by the unitholder, but the total of the 
votes cast or abstained from may not exceed the total of 
the votes exercisable in respect of the combined units held 
by the unitholder.

Notes to the form of proxy for debenture holders



Corporate advisor and sponsor
Java Capital (Proprietary) Limited
2 Arnold Road, Rosebank, 2196
PO Box 2087, Parklands, 2121

Transfer secretaries
Computershare Investor Services (Proprietary) Limited
Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street
Johannesburg, 2001
PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107

Trustee for debenture holders
Webber Wentzel Bowens
3rd Floor, Granger Bay Court, Beach Road
V&A Waterfront, Cape Town
PO Box 1820, Cape Town, 8000

Registered office and business address
Registration number: 1987/005284/06
3rd Floor, North Wing, Hyde Park Shopping Centre
Jan Smuts Avenue, Sandton, 2196
PO Box 41257, Craighall, 2024
Tel: +27 11 325 4340
Fax: +27 11 325 5196
Website: www.hyprop.co.za

Company secretary
Probity Business Services (Proprietary) Limited
3rd Floor, The Mall Offices, 11 Cradock Avenue
Rosebank, 2196
PO Box 85392, Emmarentia, 2029

Independent auditors
Grant Thornton
(Member firm of Grant Thornton International)
137 Daisy Street, cnr Grayston Drive
Sandton, 2196
Private Bag X28, Benmore, 2010

Administration

The paper used in the financial statements section of this report is waste recycled and is largely carbon neutral.

“Attfund Retail” Femtoworx Limited (in the process of being renamed Attfund Retail Limited)

“the board” The board of directors of Hyprop Investments Limited 

“Canal Walk” Canal Walk Shopping Centre 

“Canal Walk Manco” Canal Walk Management Company (Proprietary) Limited 

“the current year” The year ending 31 December 2011 

“GLA” Gross lettable area 

“The Glen” The Glen Shopping Centre 

“The Grace” The Grace Hotel and Offices 

“Hyde Park” Hyde Park Shopping Centre 

“Hyprop” or “the company” Hyprop Investments Limited 

“King III Report” King Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa 2009 

“The Mall” The Mall of Rosebank 

“Redefine” Redefine Properties Limited 

“SENS” Securities Exchange News Service 

“Stoneridge” Stoneridge Shopping Centre 

“Sycom” Sycom Property Fund Limited 

“the year” or “the year under review” The year ended 31 December 2010 

“Vunani Properties” Vunani Properties (Proprietary) Limited 

“VPIF” Vunani Property Investment Fund (Proprietary) Limited
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